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AT A GLANCE  
& HIGHLIGHTS

Read our annual report online, 
which includes our film and 

more visual assets

www.viva.com.kw/ar2018

*On 4th February 2019, the Board of Directors has 
recommended distributing cash dividends of 40 fils per 
share representing 40% of the nominal share value for the 
year ended 2018, subject to the approval of the ordinary 
General Assembly of the Company.

**2016 Revenues, EBITDA and Net Profit are not restated as 
per IFRS 15 & 9
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ABOUT VIVA
KUWAIT

Kuwait 
Telecommunications 
Company (VIVA) 
is Kuwait’s newest 
telecommunications 
service provider, 
incorporated by 
Amiri Decree No. 187 
on 22 July 2008 to 
operate and manage 
the nation’s third 
GSM mobile network 
in Kuwait, as per 
Law No. 2 of 2007. 
Accordingly, VIVA was 
launched in December 
2008 and was listed 
on the Boursa Kuwait 
in December 2014.

Through its customer and employee-
centric approach, VIVA rapidly established 
itself as the second largest operator in the 
Kuwaiti market, today with over 2.2 million 
customers. The company has achieved this 
significant share of the market by offering 
an innovative range of advanced products 
and services, a state-of-the-art network, 
and access to a world-class service.

With the objective of providing value to 
Shareholders through a solid return on 
their investment, VIVA offers superior 
Internet speed due to the implementation 
of the most advanced 4G LTE and High 
Speed Downlink Packet Access (HSDPA) 
network in Kuwait, resulting in high 
network performance.

10



VISION &
VALUES

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8

Vision
Our vision is to provide unique services and products 
that satisfy the aspirations of our clients and 
accommodate their needs, which in turn will earn us 
their trust. This is through presenting our customers 
with a variety of telecommunications opportunities 
with the goal of boosting our relationships with them 
and giving them the best experience around the clock.

Our vision is embodied in a fundamental and detailed 
understanding of the Kuwaiti market and focusing 
on the needs of customers in everything we say 
and do. We have pledged to work to enrich the lives 
of our customers through telecommunications, 
entertainment and information, and data 
transfer services.

Values

 Energetic
 Our passion is 

performance, innovation, 
and delivering of superior 
quality. We are efficient, 
reliable, and highly 
responsive to our  
clients‘ needs.

 Transparent
 We are open, trustworthy 

and collaborative.

 Engaging
 All of our activities revolve 

around our customers.

 Fulfilling
 We offer a wide range 

of easy to understand 
products. Our actions 
create value, helping our 
customers lead more 
rewarding and  
enjoyable lives. 
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY VIVA,

CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT

It is my pleasure to present VIVA Kuwait’s annual 
report for the year ended 31 December 2018, a year 
which also marks our 10th anniversary of operations. 
This report provides a summary of our performance 
and activities in a year that was characterized by 
excellent financial and operational results, reaching a 
net profit of KD 50.4 million despite an increasingly 
competitive telecommunications market and some 
challenging headwinds in the local economy.

This year has seen VIVA succeed in implementing 
integrated strategies to ensure it is equipped to 
respond to increasing market demand. I am proud of 
the way VIVA has worked to consolidate its position 
as a leader in the telecom industry in Kuwait and the 
GCC region, developing services and creative offers 
to meet our customers’ needs and surpass their 
expectations, utilizing the latest global technology.

The Telecommunications Market
VIVA has continued to benefit from Kuwait’s 
extremely high mobile penetration rate above 180%, 
but this has also provided a number of challenges. 
With the advent and increased usage of VoIP 
technology, despite higher data usage, mobile service 
providers have had to expand their product range and 
look to create alternative revenue streams. Declining 
tariffs across the market have put further pressure 
on profit margins for the industry as a whole, but 
despite these challenges, VIVA has demonstrated its 
resilience and ability to achieve good profits.

Creating Shareholder Value
Our primary goal is to encourage investment in 
our company to allow us to develop our offerings 
to customers in the Kuwaiti market. We need to 
demonstrate to our Shareholders that their trust in 

us is well placed, and that the returns we generate 
are sustainable and attractive. Despite the fierce 
competition in the market, VIVA has achieved growth 
in both revenue and profitability, and has further 
enhanced operational efficiency to create value and 
deliver reliable returns for its Shareholders.

In 2018, VIVA grew its net profit by 18% to reach KD 
50.4 million (earnings per share of 101 fils), compared 
to KD 42.8 million (earnings per share 86 fils) in the 
previous year. Shareholders’ equity increased by 
22% to reach KD 192 million at the end of 2018. The 
Board of Directors has recommended a cash dividend 
of 40 fils per share to be distributed among the 
Shareholders, representing 40% of the nominal share 
value for the year ended 2018, subject to the approval 
of the Ordinary General Assembly of the company.

The results we have achieved during 2018 reflect our 
company’s resilience and the quality and dedication 
of the Board of Directors, the executive management 
and our employees. VIVA remains committed to 
further enhance the quality of its customer service 
and operational efficiency, which will be discussed 
further in this report. 

Corporate Governance
VIVA is committed to adhering to the corporate 
governance regulations issued by the Capital Markets 
Authority of the State of Kuwait. The regulations aim 
to uphold transparency, protect Shareholder value, 
and improve the working environment. Among VIVA’s 
values are compliance with and the application of all 
laws and regulations and serving the best interests 
of our Shareholders and employees. The corporate 
governance report in a later chapter outlines our 
framework in further detail.
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Corporate Social Responsibility
In addition to growing our commercial operations and 
market share, VIVA has a long standing commitment 
to support and contribute to our local community. The 
company is involved in a number of initiatives and 
activities that benefit various groups across Kuwaiti 
society, including those active in healthcare, sports, 
education and entrepreneurship.

Appreciation
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I wish to thank 
His Highness, the Amir Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmad Al-
Jaber Al-Sabah , H.H. the Crown Prince Sheikh Nawaf 
Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, H.H. the Prime Minister 
Sheikh Jaber Al-Mubarak Al-Hamad Al-Sabah and the 
Government of the State of Kuwait for their continued 
support for the telecom sector, enabling Kuwait to 
make its mark as the most developed and advanced 
country in our industry.

I would also like to thank all the VIVA family for 
their significant efforts and dedication to making the 
company successful, and without whom we would not 
have reached this milestone. We are inspired by our 
customers’ confidence which motivates us to provide 
the best services with the highest possible quality, 
and I thank them for their continued trust in us. I 
also extend my deepest thanks to our Shareholders 
for their continued support and confidence in VIVA. 
This commitment has enabled VIVA to continue on its 
journey of growth over the past ten years.

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmed Abdulrahman
Chairman
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SHAREHOLDER 
INFORMATION & KEY 
ANNOUNCEMENTS
Shareholders Structure

Saudi Telecommunications Company (STC)

Public Institute for Social Security

Kuwait Investment Authority

Other Shareholders

Key Announcements
VIVA and Boubyan Bank ink a multi-currency financing 
agreement of KD 40m (13 February 2018)
VIVA and Boubyan Bank have signed a multi-currency 
financing agreement of KD 40 million (inclusive of Murabaha 
facility, as per Islamic Shari’a Compliance Law), to support 
VIVA’s plans to upgrade its network and expand its reach in 
the region over the next 5 years.

VIVA announces successful implementation of Oracle 
Fusion Revenue Management Cloud (18 February 2018)
The company has launched a new Fusion Revenue 
Management (FRM) system, the first cloud-based 
application for VIVA and the first fully automated 
revenue management system in GCC that complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS 15) standard. This project has seen VIVA collaborate 
successfully with Oracle, one of the world’s leading 
companies in this field.

VIVA becomes the first in Kuwait to physically demo its 
5G services (5 June 2018)
VIVA has become the first telecom company in Kuwait to 
bring unrivalled fifth generation 5G to its customers by 
hosting an experience to physically test the technology. 
The event reflects VIVA’s continuous commitment to its 
customers in delivering up-to-date technologies that meet 
expectations. This launch is the first step in showcasing 

VIVA’s capacity to offer the 5G services, while full 
commercial roll-out is anticipated upon receiving 
regulatory approvals.

VIVA and Al-Aaly ink strategic partnership agreement 
(12 August 2018)
VIVA has signed an agreement with Al-Aaly 
Communications, one of the leading payment solution 
specialists in Kuwait. The strategic initiative agreement 
authorizes Al-Aaly to be the exclusive distributor for VIVA 
prepaid lines and recharge cards in the Kuwaiti telecom 
market. The partnership is part of VIVA’s expansion plan, 
providing innovative solutions for their customers.
 
VIVA recognized as Leading Corporate for Investor 
Relations in Kuwait and third in the Middle East at 
MEIRA Awards (30 September 2018)
VIVA has been named Leading Corporate for Investor 
Relations in Kuwait at the 10th Anniversary MEIRA Awards 
in Dubai, UAE. The team were also awarded third prize for 
the same category across the entire Middle East region, in 
the presence of the biggest listed companies from across 
the GCC.

VIVA announces the signing of an initial agreement for 
the sale and purchase of QualityNet shares 
(1 November 2018)
VIVA has signed an initial agreement with Bahrain 
Telecommunication Company (“BATELCO”) and National 
Bank of Kuwait (“NBK”) to purchase the entire share capital 
of QualityNet General Trading and Contracting W.L.L. 
(“QualityNet”), at a price to be established upon completion 
of the full transfer of the shares to VIVA, subject to 
conditions agreed between parties. QualityNet’s shares 
will be transferred to VIVA after signing the final sale and 
purchase agreement, fulfilling terms and conditions and 
obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals.

51.8%

10.3%

6%

31.8%
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2018 marked a number of achievements for VIVA. 
We reached our first decade of operations, and we 
consolidated our strong position in the Kuwaiti telecom 
market despite tough competition, with products 
increasing and prices decreasing across the market.

This year, we are proud that we have maintained our 
market share position in operating revenues. We have 
retained the position of second-largest telecoms 
operator in the local market and maintained market 
leadership in fulfilling customer expectations.

A Decade of Growth
Celebrating 10 years of sustained growth offers an 
opportunity to reflect on VIVA’s exceptional journey. 
From launching as a challenger brand in the market, 
VIVA’s ambitious growth has been underpinned by 
continual innovation and commitment to delivering 
value for Shareholders, customers and employees.

VIVA’s success so far has been accelerated by our 
customer-centric approach, listening and responding 
to market demand. In our first year of operations, 
VIVA gained 500,000 customers. Since then, we have 
continued to lead the way in introducing best-in-class 
products and services; from providing high-speed 
mobile broadband to launching the Apple iPhone 
to deploying 4G LTE, and this year, previewing 5G 
services. As VIVA enters the next phase of growth, we 
continue to identify opportunities to innovate within 
the telecoms industry. 

Financial Results
VIVA recorded strong revenues during 2018, despite 
intense competition, to reach KD 288 million as at 31 
December 2018. We achieved these results largely due 
to the quality of our services, our service delivery and 
the diversity of promotions and packages offered by 

the company across all segments. As a result, VIVA’s 
customer base reached 2.2 million by the end of 2018. 

Our net profit for 2018 was KD 50.4 million (earnings 
per share of 101 fils), an increase of 18% compared to 
KD 42.8 million (earnings per share of 86 fils) last 
year. The company achieved this growth in profits, 
despite the same levels in revenues, as a result of the 
cost optimization strategy supported by all sectors 
of the company without any impact on the quality 
of services offered to our customers. Meanwhile, 
Shareholder Equity increased by 22% to reach KD 192 
million in 2018, compared to KD 156.9 million in 2017.

Operational Challenges and Achievements
The competitive market environment this year 
provided additional operational hurdles that VIVA 
overcame by focusing on creating value and enhancing 
customer experience. VIVA looked to have better 
quality engagement with our customers to develop a 
deeper understanding of how to create optimum value 
for them across the range of products and services, 
and focusing on those that are most relevant to the 
market today. 

To support this, VIVA also extended its commercial 
presence across Kuwait to 92 branches, enabling us to 
be closer to our customers and to meet their growing 
demand for products and services. We received a 
number of awards including “Leading Corporate for 
Investor Relations in Kuwait” and among the top 3 
companies in the Middle East recognized by the Middle 
East Investor Relations Association. Additionally, we 
were recognized for “Best Network Development” in 
the MENA region presented at the third annual 5G 
MENA Awards Ceremony, and as “Kuwait’s Fastest 
Mobile Network” by Ookla at the Speedtest Awards.

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

CEO’S  
MESSAGE
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This year has seen further operational advances 
to maintain our position as leaders in the telecoms 
industry. VIVA launched “voiceover Long Term 
Evolution Plus” (VoLTE Plus), and became the first 
telecommunications company in Kuwait to showcase 
cutting-edge 5G services to customers. As part of our 
growth strategy, VIVA signed an initial agreement to 
acquire an Internet Service Provider (ISP) company, 
QualityNet. The execution of this transaction is 
anticipated to take place in the first quarter of 2019; 
we aim to reap the benefits in the coming years. 

Strategy
Reaching this milestone allows us to also look forward 
to the next phase of growth. VIVA’s strategic focus 
continues to be on creating value by enhancing our 
core business, capitalizing on new digital opportunities 
and strengthening our operations through digitization. 

Having demonstrated our capability to deliver 5G 
services, the next year will see VIVA further develop 
the infrastructure to support the commercial rollout 
of 5G and identifying how to effectively monetize the 
significant opportunities it provides to the telecoms 
industry. As the market shifts, the focus will be 
on these new revenue streams and creating more 
strategic partnerships, like the ISP acquisition, to drive 
VIVA forward.

Human Capital
Investing in our human capital is a crucial element 
of our business plan, and our commitment to the 
government’s Kuwaitization program remains one of 
the main pillars of our strategy. We achieved a new 
high of 64% Kuwaiti nationals in our workforce in 
2018. At VIVA, we constantly endeavor to extend and 
develop the capacity and capabilities of our human 

resources through training and learning to encourage 
our people to achieve their goals and to rise through 
the organization. 

Gratitude
I would like to extend my sincere thanks to our valued 
customers for their loyalty and confidence in VIVA. In 
addition, I offer my thanks and gratitude to the Board 
of Directors, members of VIVA family and our partners 
for their contribution to the brilliance and success 
of VIVA and its continuing leadership in the Kuwaiti 
telecom market. 

In 2018, the VIVA team worked to consolidate the 
excellent progress made towards growing and 
strengthening the business. As a result, we look 
forward with renewed confidence that we will achieve 
our objectives for the next year. While we expect 2019 
to not be without its challenges, we believe that VIVA 
has the capability and resilience to continue to grow. 

Eng. Salman Bin Abdulaziz Al-Badran 
Chief Executive Officer  
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 2008
• Commercial launch

• Abolishes incoming 
call fees, other local 
operators follow

• First operator globally to 
have entirely IP network

 2010
• Expands retail network 

and launches joint 
promotions with retailers

• Wins CommsMEA Best 
Telecom Finance Deal

 2012
• Launches Elite Program 

for loyal, VIP & high value 
customers

• Becomes profitable 
during fourth year of 
operation

• Deployment of 4G LTE 
network

 2009
• Introduces high-speed 

mobile broadband to 
Kuwait

• Launches innovative 
prepaid offerings, 
acquiring 500,000 
customers in one year

 2011
• First to introduce Apple 

iPhone

• Strategic partnership 
with Manchester United 
Football Club

• Introduces newest HSPA+ 
(42.2 Mbps) broadband 
network

CELEBRATING OUR 
JOURNEY OF GROWTH
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 2014
• Listing on KSE

• Strategic partnership 
with Real Madrid

• Retained earnings 
become positive

• Ranked 2nd in terms of 
revenue and subscriber 
market share

 2016
• Awarded Best Telecom 

Company by Arabian 
Business

• Awarded Leading 
Corporate for IR

• Member of International 
Telecommunication Union 
(ITU)

• Business Innovation in 
Risk Management

 2018
• Winner of Best Network 

Development Award at 
5G MENA Awards

• Named Leading 
Corporate for Investor 
Relations in Kuwait and 
3rd in the Middle East 
and Africa at MEIRA 
Awards

• Three awards at the ME 
Call Centre Awards

 2013
• Completes nationwide 

4G LTE coverage and 
awarded Best LTE 
Deployment in Middle 
East

• Acquires majority of 
numbers from other 
operators, following 
launch of number 
portability

 2015
• First in Kuwait to 

introduce VoLTE 
technology

• Reach a total of 
70 branches open 
nationwide

• First to introduce LTE 
Advanced

 2017
• Winner of VIP Customer 

Service Award

• Winner of 2017 Speedtest 
Award from Ookla

• Winner of Best Operator 
Network by Telecom 
World Middle East

• Awarded 5G Innovator of 
the Year

• Excellence in Governance 
Award
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VIVA successfully navigated a challenging 
macroeconomic environment to meet its financial 
goals for the year. Increasing competition between 
mobile service providers drove tariffs down, while 
the increased usage of voiceover IP (VoIP) technology 
affected the already eroding margins delivered on 
traditional voice packages. The dominance of data and 
the need to monetize it is now more critical than ever, 
and this year, we looked to tackle these challenges 
primarily through cost optimization and delivering on 
our competitive strategy. 

We also looked beyond our first decade of growth, 
investing in the future of our business through ISP 
acquisitions and becoming the first telecoms company 
to trial 5G ahead of its roll out in the 
near future.

VIVA has applied IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers” and IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, 
allowing for a retrospective approach to 
documentation, effective from 1 January 2018. The 
new process enables the investor community to 
have easier access to financial records, bolstering 
VIVA’s transparency and comparability of financials. 
In addition, VIVA launched the Fusion Revenue 
Management (FRM) system. The cloud-based 
application is the first of its kind, offering a fully 
automated revenue management system in the 
GCC complying with the specifications set by the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS 15) 
benchmark.

As of 1 January 2019, VIVA will adopt the IFRS 16’s 
modified approach to financial reporting. The company 
has already performed a rigorous assessment of the 
anticipated preliminary impact with promising results 
as the project enters its final stages of implementation.

Business Efficiency and Financial 
Performance
Despite the difficult market conditions squeezing 
financial margins, we were able to both protect and 
improve our profits in 2018. VIVA reported excellent 
financial results, generating revenues of KD 288 
million, an increase of 0.1% year-on-year, while 
EBITDA for the year grew by 9.5% year-on-year 
and reached KD 77.8 million. Our focus on driving 
business efficiency is reflected by our strong EBITDA 
margin of 27%, while the net income reached a 
historical level of KD 50.4 million.

Our ability to navigate an increasingly challenging 
operating environment is evidence of the capability 
of the business to leverage new opportunities. We 
aim to deliver on our strategy to create an agile and 
leading organization, benefitting from new growth 
opportunities, monetizing our assets and continuing 
to increase efficiency.

Our investment for expanding and upgrading our 
network led to a CAPEX spend of KD 31.1 million over 
the year, reflecting 11% of revenue. This will be critical 
in order for us to maintain our competitive advantage 
in future. Our commitment to delivering value for our 
Shareholders is reflected in the increase in equity by 
22% to reach KD 192 million.

In 2018, VIVA has signed a multi-currency financing 
agreement of KD 40 million with Boubyan Bank, 
reinforcing a healthy zero-leveraged financial 
position. This includes the Islamic Shari’a Compliant 
Murabaha facility to aid in financing VIVA’s endeavors 
to invest in 5G network.

CFO’S 
REVIEW
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Financial Strategy
This year, we worked hard to reach our goals 
and continue to grow VIVA. Our overall strategic 
objectives were to grow our profitable market share, 
whilst maintaining our share of revenue and EBITDA. 
I am pleased that we were able to achieve both, with 
our net income increasing significantly by 18%.

We pride ourselves on being a forward-looking 
business, and much of our activity over the past 12 
months has been focused on ensuring that VIVA is 
equipped to continue on its journey of growth. We 
built frameworks for smart investment by setting 
up a team to develop this proposition and tools for 
analysis. We also created a post-implementation 
analysis mechanism to measure the performance of 
this new program against our KPIs. We look forward 
to refining this framework in 2019 and beyond. 

Transparency with the Investment 
Community 
VIVA received several accolades throughout 2018 
for enabling transparency with its investment 
community. We were named “Leading Corporate for 
Investor Relations in Kuwait” at the MEIRA Awards, as 
well as ranking third among all the listed companies 
in the MENA region. By asserting our leading 
role in developing successful investor relations 
programs, VIVA embodies the best practices and 
professional standards required to meet the needs 
of the investment community, as an extension of its 
communications tools and channels 
facilitating transparency.

Looking Ahead
In the coming year, we will seek to enhance our core 
business to augment the value we offer and to grow 
our profitable market share. We will also place a 

clear focus on value-creating digital opportunities 
for our business, to protect VIVA from any potential 
decline in the market. Our goal will be on creating 
telecom investment opportunities and working with 
IoT businesses to capitalize on the wider potential 
the local market can offer. We aim to further 
strengthen our operations through digitization, 
providing best-in-class services to our customers. 

Mohammed Bin AbdulMohsen Al Assaf
Chief Financial Officer 
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In its 10 year history, VIVA has consistently sought 
to be a leader in its field. It was the first telecom 
operator in the world to have an all-IP network, the 
first to introduce the Apple iPhone into the market, 
and the first to deploy VoLTE technology and LTE 
Advanced. In 2018, VIVA again demonstrated its 
leadership in the sector by becoming the first in 
the industry to present a demonstration of the fifth 
generation 5G network to consumers. 

The journey has not been without its challenges, 
affecting both the company and the wider landscape 
in which it operates. VIVA’s response has been to be 
resilient in difficult market conditions, and overcome 
obstacles through continuous innovation and the 
introduction of new technologies to stay ahead. 
VIVA has sought throughout to diversify its revenue 
streams to combat increasing competition and to 
reach its strategic objectives. 

At the core of VIVA’s growth story is its commitment 
to creating value for Shareholders, customers 
and employees. VIVA wants to do this with 
integrity, giving back to the community it serves by 
contributing to social initiatives across sport, health, 
education, entrepreneurship and environmental 
conservation. The company is also among the first 
adopters of the government’s Kuwaitization program, 
whereby 64% of the workforce is now made up of 
Kuwaiti nationals. 

VIVA’s first decade of growth is only the beginning; 
it represents only the start of our journey. As the 
business continues to flourish, it will strive to 
further shape and modernize the local and regional 
telecommunications industry and provide digital 
solutions and transformation for its customers in the 
Kuwaiti market and beyond.

ESTABLISHED IN 2008, 
VIVA’S FOCUS FROM DAY 
ONE WAS TO DELIVER 
UNRIVALLED SERVICE AND 
VALUE TO ITS CUSTOMERS, 
CONNECTING WITH THEM 
AND UNDERSTANDING HOW 
TO MEET THEIR NEEDS. 

VIVA AT 10: A DECADE 
OF GROWTH
2018 MARKS VIVA’S 10TH YEAR IN 
OPERATION – ANOTHER MILESTONE IN ITS 
EXTRAORDINARY JOURNEY. 

24



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8
An

nu
al

 R
ep

or
t 2

01
8

25



In a year of challenges across the breadth of 
the Kuwait’s telecommunications market, 2018 
saw the introduction of new strategic pillars 
for VIVA, with the ambition of propelling the 
company on its path to market leadership. 

As the regional market stalled, VIVA honed 
its focus on these four pillars, namely to 
enhance our core business, identify growth 
opportunities, focus on digitization and optimize 
the operations. Intensive price competition 
dramatically reduced market value, and as a 
result, VIVA’s aim was to augment the existing 
business in a market providing little growth 
opportunity by creating value for Shareholders 
and customers. 

With STC’s growth strategy also looking at 
opportunities beyond connectivity, VIVA is now 
preparing to play a leading role in developing a 
convergent offering. The strategy for this year 
has prepared the team for that step: 

STRATEGY  
& KPIS 1 ENHANCING THE CORE 

BUSINESS
The team has focused on enhancing the core business 
by creating value, segmenting their customer base and 
understanding the needs of each group, effectively driving 
the product development strategy and looking at where 
intelligent investments can be made for the best impact.

2 IDENTIFYING GROWTH 
OPPORTUNITIES
The company has looked to identify new revenue 
streams across more traditional areas: analyzing 
how best to monetize data and engaging in strategic 
partnerships with businesses able to provide the 
infrastructure to develop VIVA’s ICT portfolio. There 
has also been a focus on convergence between 
media and telecoms, IoT and cloud technology, and 
the next phase of growth will incorporate these 
more innovative growth areas.

3 DIGITIZATION
Customer demand is changing, and this is a driving 
factor for VIVA to invest in e-care, already widespread in 
some other sectors. E-care, or digital customer service, 
is rapidly becoming the consumer preference, and will 
ensure that VIVA remains a first choice for consumers. 
It also has the potential to significantly lower customer 
service operating costs by between 25-30% while 
increasing customer satisfaction, another of VIVA’s target 
areas.

4 CORPORATE OPTIMIZATION
Alongside value creation, existing product adjustments 
have been made, as well as reducing products that are no 
longer relevant to the market. In analyzing where these 
adjustments could be made to have the greatest impact, 
VIVA has been able to improve efficiency and optimize 
its costs.

26



Telecoms will doubtless continue to be one of the 
world’s most rapidly evolving sectors, and VIVA 
is committed to remain at the cutting edge so as 
to continue to deliver value to its Shareholders, 
customers, and employees alike. 

The commercial rollout of 5G will be one of the 
biggest evolutions for the industry. VIVA was the 
first operator to provide a demonstration for 
consumers this year, even though this technology 
is still in its early development stages. Given 
the market’s appetite for data connectivity, it 
is predicted that the region will invest heavily 
in network infrastructure, upgrading 4G and 
trialing and launching 5G. VIVA is anticipating 
this change by engaging with technology vendors 
to feature technologies used in 5G in current 
network upgrades.
 
As well as increasing usage of their mobiles, 
consumers are using their devices differently, 
creating opportunities for VIVA to generate 
new revenue streams to balance declining core 
revenue. For VIVA, this means turning to focus on 
strategic partnerships across financial services, 
business-to-business IT services, Internet of 
Things (IoT) and eCommerce in the mid and 
longer term. Media and video content will also 
take a more prominent role with many Middle 
East operators announcing plans to launch video 
offerings in the short term.

By anticipating the changes in the market and 
industry and building a strategy around them, 
VIVA is equipping itself for its next decade of 
growth and beyond.

THE NEXT DECADE OF 
GROWTH AND BEYOND
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About Corporate Social Responsibility
We aspire to be one of Kuwait’s leading corporate 
citizens. We are eager to play an active role in 
Corporate Social Responsibility, which means 
continuing to act ethically and contribute to the 
country’s social and economic development to 
improve the quality of life of the population.

We believe in taking a holistic approach to our CSR 
activities, one that engages our employees, and 
creates goodwill in our communities - all with a 
focus on helping to grow and develop the State of 
Kuwait. As a Kuwaiti company, we believe in this 
symbiotic relationship that defines our broader 
community investment strategy; because we believe 
that in order to succeed as an organization, it is our 
responsibility to give.

Since our establishment ten years ago, VIVA has 
dedicated itself to more than its market position. We 
have regularly displayed our commitment towards 

Corporate Social Responsibility, playing an active 
role in supporting the Kuwaiti community on many 
levels. VIVA’s approach lies in seeking sustainable 
investments which will benefit the community 
in the long term. 

This strategy involves building on the company’s 
strong ethics, values and corporate governance 
foundation; being consistent in its commitment 
to the ongoing, impartial, transparent sharing 
of information; and ensuring that its core CSR 
commitments are achievable in relation to the 
company’s financial performance.

Areas of Engagement:
•  Health
• Entrepreneurship
• Sport
• Education
• Environment

CSR Activities
Inauguration of the ‘VIVA Academy’ in its first 
edition in cooperation with Kuwait University Media 
Department
VIVA inaugurated the ‘VIVA Academy’ in its first 
edition, in cooperation with Kuwait University’s Media 
Department to support students and share VIVA’s 
experience to ensure their future success. Attendees 
included Dr. Munawer Al-Rajhi, Head of Media 
Department, Dr. Hiba Musallem and Dr. Hasan Makki. 
VIVA plans to carry out similar initiatives in all 
universities throughout Kuwait in the coming editions 
of the Academy. Graduates of the first program 
received certificates of achievement.
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Strategic Partner in ‘Bidaya’ Initiative for Small 
Businesses 
VIVA announced its strategic partnership for this 
initiative with Al-Hamra Economic Consultancies 
Company. This initiative, the first of its kind in Kuwait, 
is aimed at young entrepreneurs and provides them 
with experience by certified Kuwaiti trainers and 
specialists to prepare them for entry to the labor 
market, especially in the private sector.

VIVA Recognizes Asian Games 2018’s Champions 
VIVA recognized the Kuwaiti medal winners from 
the Asian Games 2018 in Jakarta. Mr. Abdulrazzaq 
Bader Al-Essa, Corporate Communications Director 
at VIVA, presented the awards in the presence of the 
President of KFA Sheikh Ahmed Al-Yousef Al-Sabah, 
after the soccer match between Kuwait and Iraq at 
Ali Sabah al-Salem Stadium.

Sponsorship of NUKS UK’s 53rd Annual Conference 
VIVA always strives to support initiatives that 
enriches the experience of Kuwaiti students locally 
and internationally. This year, we sponsored the 
53rd annual conference of the National Union of 
Kuwaiti Students (NUKS) at the Hilton Hotel in 
London, in the presence of the Minister of Commerce 
and Industry Minister of State for Youth Affairs, 
Mr. Khaled Nasser Al-Roudan. Also present was 
VIVA’s CEO, Eng. Salman Bin Abdulaziz Al-Badran, 
the Ambassador of Kuwait in London, Mr. Khaled 
Abdulaziz Al-Duwaisan and NUKS’ UK Branch’s 
President Mr. Fahed Khalifa Al-Hayfi.

VIVA Concludes the ‘VIVA Academy’ in its first edition 
and Recognizes the Graduates
VIVA concluded the ‘VIVA Academy’ in its first edition 
in cooperation with Kuwait University – Media 
Department, as part of its CSR program concerning 
the support of the students inside and outside 
Kuwait. Graduates received certificates 
of achievement. 
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VIVA Supports Education of GUST Students 
VIVA extended a warm welcome to students of the 
Gulf University for Science and Technology (GUST) 
studying Computer Sciences (Networks). Under 
the supervision of Dr. Esraa Omran, who drove 
and organized the initiative, students were given 
the opportunity to visit VIVA’s headquarters to 
help broaden their understanding of the industry, 
supporting their studies.

VIVA Main Sponsor of NUKS UK’s 54th Annual 
Conference 
VIVA sponsored the annual 54th conference of the 
National Union of Kuwaiti Students (NUKS) - United 
Kingdom branch. The event took place at the Hilton 
Hotel on Park Lane in London, from 26-28 October 
2018, with Assistant Undersecretary of Information 
Mr. Mohammed Bin Naji, Ambassador of Kuwait in 
London Mr. Khaled Abdulaziz Al-Duwaisan and NUKS 
UK Branch’s President Mr. Fahed Abdallah Al-Otaibi. 
This initiative aims to foster and nurture activities, 
events and initiatives that enrich the experience of 
Kuwaiti students inside and outside Kuwait.

VIVA Organizes Blood Donation Day for its Staff 
VIVA organized a Blood Donation Day at its offices 
in cooperation with the Central Blood Bank. This 
initiative reflects VIVA’s commitment to support 
community initiatives helping to save lives and 
endorsing good health practices among its staff.
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Final report of the Shari’a Supervisory Committee 
for the financial period of 1 January 2018 to 31 
December 2018

To the Shareholders of Kuwait 
Telecommunications Company VIVA:

Allah’s peace, mercy and blessing be upon you.
In accordance with the powers delegated to us by 
the members of the General Assembly of Kuwait 
Telecommunications Company VIVA and under the 
Company’s Articles of Association and the relevant 
regulatory directives, the Shari’a Supervisory 
Committee submits its final report for the period 
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018. It includes 
three items as follows:

First: The work of the Shari’a Supervisory 
Committee
The Shari’a Supervisory Committee carried out 
its work, which included examining the investment 
structures, contract forms, products, policies 
and procedures either directly or in coordination 
with internal Shari’a audit department in order to 
obtain all the information and explanations that it 
considered necessary to provide sufficient evidence 

and give reasonable assurance that the company 
did not violate the provisions of Islamic law in the 
light of the resolutions of the Shari’a Supervisory 
Committee and the Shari’a standards adopted by 
the Company and the decisions of the relevant 
regulatory bodies.

Second: Decisions of the Shari’a 
Supervisory Committee
The Shari’a Supervisory Committee of the Company 
responded to all the Company’s inquiries and issued 
32 decisions.

Three: The Final Opinion
In our opinion, after examining all the clarifications 
and assurances we have obtained, and we confirm 
that:

1. The contracts, operations and transactions 
concluded by the Company during the period from 
1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 were made 
entirely in accordance with provisions of the 
Islamic Shari’a.

2. The responsibility to pay Zakat falls on the 
Shareholders.

Member of the Shari’a
Supervisory Committee

Dr. Issa Zaki Issa

Member of the Shar’ia
Supervisory Committee
Dr. Ali Ibrahim Al Rashed

Head of the Shari’a Supervisory Committee
Prof. Abdil Aziz K. Al-Qassar

THE SHARI’A 
REPORT

34



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8
An

nu
al

 R
ep

or
t 2

01
8

35



Introduction
Corporate Governance rules are the principles, 
systems and procedures that protect and balance 
the interests of the management of the Company, 
its Shareholders and other Stakeholders. The main 
objective of the Corporate Governance Code is to 
ensure that the Company is in line with Shareholders’ 
objectives to enhance investor confidence in the 
Company’s performance and crisis management 
capabilities. Corporate Governance rules regulate the 
decision-making process within the Company and 
stimulates the transparency and credibility of those 
decisions.

One of the most important objectives of Corporate 
Governance is to protect Shareholders and to 
segregate power between the Executive Management 

of the Company and the Board of Directors, which 
prepares and reviews the Company’s plans and 
policies to reassure and enhance confidence in 
Shareholders.

In line with the positive steps taken by the Capital 
Markets Authority through regulations and 
regulatory decisions that seek to improve the 
working environment, transparency and protect 
Shareholders, and in order to implement all the laws, 
legislations and practices that are in line with our 
principles and professional principles that guide our 
work in the interest of our Shareholders, we always 
strive to focus our efforts through an integrated 
team to implement all laws and decisions in a 
professional and timely manner.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Structure of the Board of Directors:
The role of the Board of Directors in the Company 
represents the point of balance that works to achieve 
Shareholder objectives and follow up with to the 
Executive Management of the Company. The Board of 
Directors seeks to achieve the strategic goals of the 
Company by ensuring that the Executive Management 
performs the tasks entrusted to it to the fullest. 
Whereas the decisions of the Board greatly affect 
the Company’s performance and the soundness 
of its financial position, the Company is keen on 
the composition of a balanced qualified Board of 
Directors, with a variety of experiences, to have a 
positive impact on the Company and its performance 
and to enhance its financial position 

and market share. Therefore, the Company has been 
keen that the majority of members of the Board are 
Non-Executive members, including an independent 
member. The Company was also keen that it includes 
members with diverse and long experience in the 
field of telecommunications and networks, as well as 
the accounting and finance fields. This adds expertise 
needed by the Company when discussing the issues 
presented to the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors is composed of 7 members. 
Herein below is a statement of their classification, 
qualifications, and experiences:

RULE (1) BUILDING A BALANCED 
STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
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BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad Abdulrahman
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Representative of the Public Investment Authority
Non-Executive Member

Dr. Mahmoud obtained a Ph.D. degree in commercial law in 1994 from the 
University of Exeter in the UK, and a Bachelor’s degree from the University 
of Kuwait in 1988.

Dr. Mahmoud is the president of the Board of Directors at Kuwait 
Telecommunications Company VIVA, and has held the post since the end of 
March 2015.

After graduating, Dr. Mahmoud immediately joined the University of 
Kuwait to be part of the faculty in the School of Law. In 1995, he took over 
as director of the Legal Department at Kuwait University for one year. 
From 1997 to 2002, he was the resident of the Legal Office of Kuwait Civil 
Aviation. From 2002 to 2004, he served as the Assistant Dean of the Faculty 
of Law at Kuwait University. Since 2005, he has served as the director 
of the Legal Department at the Public Investment Authority, a member 
of Warba Bank’s board of directors and a member of Health Insurance 
Hospitals Company’s board of directors.

In addition, Dr. Mahmoud has published several legal theses in Law 
Magazine and other scientific magazines and executed two projects in 
respect to consumer protection law and monopoly and merger law, which 
were submitted for the Kuwait National Assembly.

Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Al-Shiddi
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Representative of Saudi Telecom Company
Non-Executive Member

Mr. Ameen holds the position of the Senior Chief Executive Officer for the 
Financial Sector in the Saudi Telecommunication Group. 

He holds a Master’s degree in accounting from the US, and a bachelor’s 
degree in Business Administration from King Saud University in Riyadh. 
In addition, he has several professional certifications, including American 
Chartered Accounting Associate, CPA, CMA and Associate SOCPA.
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Mr. Ahmad Abdullah Al-Turki
Member of the Board of Directors
Representative of Public Institution for Social Security
Non-Executive Member

Mr. Ahmad is a member of the Board of Directors Kuwait 
Telecommunications Company VIVA. He started his professional career 
in the field of computer and information technology 33 years ago in the 
Public Institution for Social Security as a trainee system engineer. He 
held several positions in the institution since then, and is now the Deputy 
Director General for Automated Processing and Information. 

He graduated in 1985 with a degree in Business Administration, with 
Computer Science as a Minor.

Mr. Ahmad attended many training courses in technical, financial and 
commercial fields which were held at international training centers from 
the University of Petroleum and Minerals.

He joined Saudi Telecommunication Company in 2001, and held several 
positions in the Finance Department before being appointed as the 
Senior Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Sector. He is a member 
of the Board of Directors of several local and international companies 
affiliated with the Saudi Telecom Group, and holds membership to several 
professional and financial committees in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Mr. Moaeed Ben Huwaij Al Saloom
Member of the Board of Directors
Representative of the STC Gulf Holding Company
Non-Executive Member

Mr. Moaeed holds the position of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer for 
Investment Operations in the Saudi Telecommunication Company. 

He holds a masters’ degree in Business Administration from Prince Sultan 
University in Riyadh from 2013, and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical 
Engineering from King Fahad University for Oil and Minerals from 1992. He 
obtained all his academic degrees with the rank of honor. 

Mr. Moaeed has attended many training courses in technical, commercial 
and financial specialisms at International Training Centers.
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Mr. Riyadh Saeed Muawad
Member of the Board of Directors
Representative of STC Gulf Holding 3
Non-Executive Member

Mr. Riyadh had his education in Saudi Arabia and Boston. 

Mr. Riyadh is currently the Vice President of Corporate Accounts at Saudi 
Telecom Company and Acting Vice President for Business Development.

In 2008, Mr. Riyadh joined Cisco Systems as a Public Sector and Defense 
Account Manager. He held several positions until becoming Cisco’s 
regional director in 2013, where he led all sales operations, customer 
interaction and overall bidding processes on mega projects within STC, 
Public Sector and Large Enterprise.

With over 16 years of experience in international organizations, he has 
extensive experience in ICT security solutions and IT services for the 
armed forces, in addition to the establishment of the Cisco Academy in 
the Ministry of Defense and National Authorities.

Eng. Omer Abdullah Al Nomany
Member of the Board of Directors
Representative of STC Holding 
Non-Executive Member

In 1994 Eng. Omer joined the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA), 
where he implemented complex critical projects. He received his 
Bachelor’s degree in computer science from the Kingdom’s leading 
Engineering and Computer Science School, King Saud University in Riyadh 
in 1994. In addition, he holds a PMP, CISM and CISSP. 

Eng. Omer is the CEO of STC Solutions, appointed in October 2017 with 
more than 15 years’ experience in executive management roles. Eng. Omer 
has held key managerial positions in STC, and led strategic initiatives such 
as the BSS Transformation Program and IT 2020.

In 2000 Eng. Omer joined STC as a manager where he was later assigned 
as the head of IT. In 2009, Eng. Omer was appointed as Vice President of 
IT where he planned the strategic vision while managing the IT delivery 
arm within STC, aligning multiple business units, the Board of Directors 
and the CEO.
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Mr. Salah Ahmad Al-Fouzan
Member of the Board of Directors
Independent Member

Mr. Salah has held the position of member of the Board of Directors at Kuwait 
Telecommunication Company VIVA since May 2016.

He graduated from Gannon University in Pennsylvania, USA. He has a 
Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering and a Diploma in Business 
Administration from Bradford University, UK.

He started his career in 1997 as an engineer in the Telecommunications 
Company. In 2005 he held the position of Executive Director of the Directorate 
of Acquisition and Merger. Since 2008, he has held the position of Deputy 
Chief Executive Officer for Business Development.

While in that role, he was in charge of the supervision and execution of 
selling and purchasing transactions of more than USD 20 billion. This 
included purchasing Celtel International Co., which operated in several 
African countries, V-Mobile in Nigeria and Mobitel in Sudan, in addition to 
the expansion through acquisition of new licenses in Kingdom of Bahrain, 
Iraq and Saudi Arabia. Also, he supervised the listing of companies in stock 
exchange markets in KSA and Zambia. In 2010, he worked on the deal to sell 
Zain Africa to Indian flagship company Bharti for USD 10.7 billion. In addition, 
he has prepared several complete studies about acquisition deals, finance 
arrangements and negotiations with banks.
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The Board of Directors held 7 meetings in 2018, as detailed below:

After the AGM held on 28 March 2018, and the 
adoption of all items, including the “Election of the 
members of the Board of Directors for the next three 
years”, the meeting of the Board of Directors was 
held on 3 April 2018 and the composition of the Board 
of Directors and the committees emanating from it 
was as follows:

the membership of Dr. Khaled Ben Hussain Ben Biyari 
ended after the first Board of Directors’ meeting held 
on 1 February 2018. The Board of Directors’ meeting 
was held on 3 April 2018 for Board of Directors’ 
formation and that after the AGM on 28 March 2018, 
all the items were approved, including the Board 
member election for the next 3 years.

Name 1
01/02/2018

2
30/03/2018

 % of 
Attendance & 

Abidance
 % Absence

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad Abdulrahman,
Chairman of the Board of Directors  100% -

Dr. Khaled Ben Hussain Ben Biyari,
Vice Chairman  -  100% -

Mr. Ahmad Abdullah Ali Al-Turki,
Member of the Board of Directors  100% -

Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Ben Abdulaziz Al-Shiddi,
Member of the Board of Directors  100% -

Mr. Riyadh Saeed Muawad, 
Member of the Board of Directors  100% -

Mr. Moaeed Ben Huwaij Al Saloom,
Member of the Board of Directors  100% -

Mr. Salah Ahmad Meshari Al-Fouzan,
Member of the Board of Directors  100% -
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Board Secretary: 
Mr. Ahmed Meshari Al-Faris was appointed as Secretary 
of the Board of Directors during the Board of Directors’ 
meeting on 24 December 2018. The work commenced on 
2 January 2019.

Mr. Al-Faris holds an MBA from Maastricht School 
of Management in the Netherlands from 2009 and a 
bachelor’s degree in accounting from Kuwait University 
from 2000. He has extensive banking experience through 
his work at the Central Bank of Kuwait and in the 
Islamic banking sector at Kuwait Finance House where 
he worked from 2002 - 2014. He joined VIVA as Director 
of the Compliance Control Department from 2014 to 
2017. He was then Assistant Undersecretary for the 
Ministry of Commerce and Industry for Corporate and 
Commercial Licensing from 2017 - 2018.

Mr. Al-Faris was appointed as a member of the Board 
of Directors of the Public Authority for Industry 
between 2017-2018 and the Central Bank of Kuwait 
in 2018. In addition he holds membership to several 

advisory boards such as the Standing Committee for 
Improving the Business Environment and Enhancing 
Competitiveness, the Supreme Committee to study 
the imbalances of Kuwait’s population structure, as 
well as the advisory board of the College of Business 
Administration at Kuwait University.

Summary of how to implement the registration and 
coordination requirements and keeping minutes of 
meetings of the Board of Directors:
The secretary helps the members of the Board on 
an ongoing basis to ensure they have any required 
information in accordance with the decisions of the 
Board of Directors or in consultation with the Chairman 
of the Board. The Secretary also assists the Chairman 
of the Board in all matters relating to the preparation of 
meetings’ agenda and issues invitations to the members 
of the Board. In addition, he logs all the decisions and 
discussions of the members of the Board of Directors, 
and records the results of voting, which takes place in 
the meetings of the Board of Directors, and saves the 
documentation for the Board of Directors.

Name  3 
03/04/2018

 4 
10/05/2018

 5 
23/07/2018

6
29/10/2018

 7 
24/12/2018

 % of 
Attendance & 

Abidance
 % Absence

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad 
Abdulrahman,

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors

 100% -

Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Ben 
Abdulaziz Al-Shiddi, 

Vice Chairman
 100% -

Mr. Ahmad Abdullah Ali 
Al-Turki,

Member of the Board of 
Directors

-  80%  20%

Eng. Omer Abdullah Al Nomany,
Member of the Board of 

Directors
 100% -

Mr. Riyadh Saeed Muawad, 
Member of the Board of 

Directors
 100% -

Mr. Moaeed Ben Huwaij 
Al Saloom,

Member of the Board of 
Directors

 100% -

Mr. Salah Ahmad Meshari Al-
Fouzan,

Member of the Board of 
Directors

 100% -
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Duties and Responsibilities of the 
Board of Directors:
The Company has a Board of Directors list, 
which includes a definition of the functions and 
responsibilities of the Board of Directors, including 
but not limited to:

• Adoption of the strategic goals, plans and policies 
of the Company.

• Approving the annual budget estimates and the 
approval of the interim and annual financial 
statements.

• Overseeing major capital expenditure of the 
Company, assets’ owning and disposal.

• Ensuring the extent of the Company’s commitment 
to policies and procedures, which ensure respect 
for the Company’s systems and internal  
regulations in force.

• Ensuring the accuracy and integrity of the data 
and information to be disclosed, according to 
the policies and procedures of disclosure and 
transparency in force.

The Company also has job descriptions of the members 
of the Board, which include a clear definition of the 
functions and responsibilities of each member of the 
Board of Directors, as well as the authority matrix, 
which clarifies the authorities of the Board of Directors, 
Executive Management and Committees.

Achievements of the Board of Directors:
Proceeding from the Board’s responsibility to achieve 
strong financial and operational results and the 
implementation of the Company’s strategic plan, the 
Board realized many additional achievements for the 
fiscal year ended 31 December 2018. This included 
successes with tangible positive indications in various 
financial, marketing and technical areas. The Company 
was able in its decade of operation to manage intense 
competition ably and gain satisfaction of subscribers 

by offering promotional offers, competitive prices 
and new services in addition to enhancing customer 
loyalty. This reflected positively on the level of 
operational revenues and profitability of the Company, 
and resulted in strengthening the role of the Company 
and the development of the telecommunications 
sector in the State of Kuwait to serve the Kuwaiti 
society, contribute effectively in promoting the 
national economy and achieve attractive returns 
to its Shareholders.

The Board of Directors continued to implement the best 
international standards in its Corporate Governance 
system through the committees of the Board with the 
assistance of the Executive Management.

Committees of the Board of Directors:
The Board has formed committees emanating from 
it, taking into account the instructions and rules 
of Corporate Governance issued by the Capital 
Markets Authority upon the formation of committees 
of the Board. The committees of the Board of 
Directors include the Executive Committee, the Risk 
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee. The following is a 
statement of such committees:

RULE (2) SOUND IDENTIFICATION 
OF ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
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Audit Committee  Date of formation: 
3 April 2018

 Committee Term: 
3 years

 Number of Members:
 4

Committee Members

 Name  Position  Classification

Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad 
Ben Abdulaziz Al-Shiddi  Chairman  Non-Executive

 Mr. Ahmad Abdullah 
Ali Al-Turki  Member  Non-Executive

 Mr. Riyadh Saeed Muawad  Member  Non-Executive

 Mr. Salah Ahmad 
Meshari Al-Fouzan  Member  Independent

The Committee performs several duties including:

• Review periodic financial statements before submission to the Board of Directors and express an opinion and recommendation on 
the same to the Board of Directors in order to ensure the fairness and transparency of financial data and reports.

• Examine accounting issues and understand their impact on the financial statements.

• Assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal Control Systems applied within the Company and prepare a report that 
includes the Committee’s opinion and recommendations in this regard.

• Assigning an independent external auditor to conduct an examination and evaluation of the internal control systems. Submit a report 
to the Committee with its opinion and recommendations before presenting the report to the Board of Directors and send it to the 
Capital Markets Authority.

• Evaluate the efficiency of the information security’s procedures and the internal control system applied in this regard.

• Technical supervision of the Internal Audit Department and review the results of the internal audit reports and regulatory authorities.

• Follow the work of the External Auditor, and discuss any constraints or difficulties encountered by the external auditor. These 
constraints include any limitations on the scope of the activities of the independent external auditor or his access to the information 
requested, and any substantive differences with the management.

• Review reports submitted by the Shari’a Supervisory Board, ensure compliance with the provisions of Islamic Shari’a, and submit its 
recommendations thereon to the Board.

• Ensure Company compliance with laws, policies, regulations and directives and regulatory provisions of the Islamic Shari’a.
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In 2018, the Audit Committee held 6 meetings, detailed as follows:

Name

 Statement of Meeting

1
01/02/2018

2
08/04/2018

3
09/05/2018

4
22/07/2018

5
28/10/2018

6
23/12/2018

 Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Al-Shiddi

 Mr. Ahmad Abdullah Ali Al-Turki -

 Mr. Riyadh Saeed Muawad

 Mr. Salah Ahmad Meshari Al-Fouzan

Committee Achievements

• Review all periodic financial statements (quarterly and annual) before submitting them to the Board of Directors.

• Follow-up of the company‘s plan and the progress of the project to qualify the policies and regulations of the company in order to 
prepare for the implementation of the new standards for financial reporting (IFRS 16).

• Discuss the annual and quarterly reports of the internal Shari‘a audit and the reports of the Shari‘a Supervisory Board in the 
presence of the Shari’a Audit Team and the Shari’a Supervisory Board.

• Discuss the reports submitted by the Internal Audit Department regarding the results of the audit work on the company‘s 
departments and activities and approve the annual Internal Audit plan.

• Appointment of an independent entity to conduct quality measurement in the internal audit activity and to adopt KPIs for the 
Internal Audit Department.
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In 2018, the Risk Management Committee held 5 meetings, detailed as follows:

Risk Management Committee  Date of formation: 
3 April 2018

 Committee Term: 
3 years

 Number of Members:
 4

Committee Members

 Name  Position  Classification

Mr. Ahmad Abdullah 
Ali Al-Turki  Chairman  Non-Executive

Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Ben 
Abdulaziz Al-Shiddi  Member  Non-Executive

Eng. Omer Abdullah 
Al Nomany  Member  Non-Executive

Mr. Salah Ahmad Meshari 
Al-Fouzan  Member Independent

Name

 Statement of Meeting

1
01/02/2018

2
10/05/2018

3
23/07/2018

4 
29/10/2018

5 
24/12/2018

 Mr. Ahmad Abdullah Ali Al-Turki -

 Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Al-Shiddi

 Eng. Omer Abdullah Al Nomany

 Mr. Salah Ahmad Meshari Al-Fouzan

The Committee performs several duties including:

• Prepare and review Risk Management strategies and policies, and the tendency of the risks before being approved by the Board of 
Directors, and ensure the implementation of these strategies and policies, and they are commensurate with the nature and size of 
the company‘s activities.

• Ensuring the availability of adequate resources and systems to manage the risks.

• Ensure that Risk Management personnel have a full understanding of the risks surrounding the company, and increasing the workers‘ 
awareness of risk culture. Prepare and review Risk Management strategies and policies, and the tendency of the risks before being 
approved by the Board of Directors, and ensure the implementation of these strategies and policies, and they are commensurate with 
the nature and size of the company‘s activities.
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 This Committee performs several duties including:

• Recommendation to accept the nomination and re-nomination of the members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management.

• Develop a clear policy for the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management.

•  Identification of appropriate skills for membership of the Board of Directors and reviewing such requirements on annual basis.

• Eng. Omer Abdullah Al Nomany was appointed as a member of the committee pursuant to the decision of the Board of Directors at its 
meeting held on 3 April 2018.

The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

 Date of formation: 
3 April 2018

 Committee Term: 
3 years

 Number of Members:
 4

Committee Members

 Name  Position  Classification

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad 
Abdulrahman  Chairman  Non-Executive

Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Ben 
Abdulaziz Al-Shiddi  Member  Non-Executive

Mr. Salah Ahmad Meshari 
Al-Fouzan  Member Independent

Mr. Moaeed Ben Huwaij Al 
Saloom  Member  Non-Executive

Committee Achievements

• Reviewed and updated the Risk Management Policy and Procedures.

• Roll out and implementation of Viva Kuwait Risk Management Framework across all sectors.

• Development and implementation of a Risk Management System “Makhater”.

• Establishment of Risk Management Awareness podcast.

• Approval of the Risk Management activities plan for 2019.
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The Executive Committee  Date of formation: 
3 April 2018

 Committee Term: 
3 years

 Number of Members:
 3

Committee Members

 Name  Position  Classification

Mr. Moaeed Ben Huwaij 
Al Saloom  Chairman  Non-Executive

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad 
Abdulrahman  Member  Non-Executive

Eng. Omer Abdullah 
Al Nomany  Member  Non-Executive

Mr. Riyadh Saeed Muawad  Member  Non-Executive

In 2018, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee held 4 meeting, detailed as follows:

Name

 Statement of Meeting

1
01/02/2018

2
30/03/2018

3
22/07/2018

4
24/12/2018

 Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad Abdulrahman

 Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Al-Shiddi

 Mr. Salah Ahmad Meshari Al-Fouzan

 Mr. Moaeed Ben Huwaij Al Saloom

• Eng. Omer Abdullah Al Nomany was appointed as a member of the committee pursaunt to the decision of the Board of Directors at its 
meeting held on 3 April 2018.

Committee Achievements

• Endorse the nomination of Board member candidates for the new three year tenure.

•  Endorse holding a workshop on new telecom companies shape and strategic partnerships.

•  Approve the succession planning policy of executive positions in the company.

•  Launch the 2018 Board Performance and Effectiveness Evaluation Program.
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 This Committee performs several duties including:

• Discussing the strategy and action plan and estimated budget before submission to the Board of Directors.

•  Monitoring the implementation of the strategic plan and performance indicators periodically.

•  Reviewing the company‘s performance in general and the performance of all sectors of the company in details, in addition to 
discussing deviations from the work plan and the estimated budget.

Committee Achievements

• Adoption of the organizational strategy for the next three years.

• Study of the strategic action plan and budget.

• Monitoring the operational performance of the company periodically.

• Studying investment opportunities.

In 2018, the Executive Committee held 5 meetings, detailed as follows:

Name

 Statement of Meeting

1
01/02/2018

2
10/05/2018

3
23/07/2018

4
29/10/2018

5
24/12/2018

Dr. Khaled Bin Hussain Al Biari  - - - - 

 Mr. Moaeed Ben Huwaij Al Saloom

 Dr. Mahmoud Ahmed Abdulrahman  -

Eng. Omer Abdullah Al Nomany  -

 Mr. Riyadh Saeed Muawad
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Summary of applying the requirements that allow 
Board members to obtain information and data 
accurately and in a timely manner:
The Board of Directors approved the procedures 
guide that guarantees for Board members to obtain 
information accurately, in a timely manner, and in 
accordance with the relevant laws and legislations. 
The guide identifies the mechanism for information 
request and presenting them to the Board of 

Directors and the procedures and obligations of 
members to maintain the confidentiality of the 
information that entrusted to them by virtue of their 
work.

The Executive Management
The company has a qualified work team from the 
members of the Executive Management as follows: 

The company has job descriptions that define the 
functions and responsibilities of each position 
clearly. The company also has an approved guide for 
the devolution of powers to all sectors within the 
company. Executive Management tasks include but are 
not limited to:
 
• Implementation of all internal policies and 

regulations of the company as approved by the 
Board of Directors.

• Implementation of the strategy and the annual plan 
approved by the Board of Directors.

• Preparation of periodic reports (financial and non-
financial) on the progress of the company’s activity 
in the light of the strategic plans and objectives of 
the company, and presentation of such reports to 
the Board of Directors.

• Managing daily routine work and activities.
• Active participation in the construction and 

development of a culture of moral values within the 
company.

• The development of internal control and 
Risk Management systems, and ensuring the 
effectiveness and adequacy of such systems, and 
adherence to the risk policy approved by the Board 
of Directors.

Eng. Salman Bin Abdulaziz Al-Badran  Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Mohammed Bin AbdulMohsen Al-Assaf  Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Andrew Hanna  Chief Commercial Officer

Mr. Issam Issa Al-Asousi  Chief Corporate Affairs Officer

Mr. Anas Yousef Hamad Al-Ateeqi  Chief Human Resources Officer

Eng. Zarrar Khan  Chief Technology Officer

Mr. Nasser Abdulaziz Al-Rashed  Chief Strategy Officer

Mr. Mohammad Fadhel Al-Sabea  Chief Internal Audit
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Eng. Salman Bin Abdulaziz Al-Badran
Chief Executive Officer

Eng. Salman Al-Badran has been the Chief Executive Officer of VIVA since 
January 2011. He has more than 15 years’ experience in telecommunications 
and GSM cellular networks, and extensive expertise in infrastructure 
implementation and operations management. Prior to joining VIVA, Eng. 
Salman Al-Badran acted as the General Manager of Al Jawal Network in 
Saudi Telecom Company (STC). His initial role at VIVA was Project Director, 
responsible for implementation and commercial launch, during which time, 
he built and led the combined Commercial, Technology, HR and Finance 
teams ahead of the commercial launch of VIVA in December 2008, in a 
record time span of 6 months.

He then took on the role of Chief Technology Officer at VIVA, during which 
time he implemented a new technology strategy to meet market demand 
for the high volume of mobile broadband usage. Eng. Salman Al-Badran has 
been pivotal in driving the company’s expanding market share and brand 
across Kuwait.

Educated at the King Fahad University of Petroleum & Minerals in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Eng. Salman Al-Badran holds a Bachelor’s degree 
in applied Electrical Engineering, with a specialization in Communications 
and Power.

Mr. Mohammed Bin AbdulMohsen Al-Assaf
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Mohammed Al-Assaf was appointed as Chief Financial Officer in 
July 2017. Mr. Mohammed Al-Assaf has extensive experience across the 
financial sectors of several large corporations, including Saudi Telecom 
Company (STC), VIVA’s parent company.

Before joining VIVA Kuwait, Mr. Mohammed Al-Assaf was working as the 
General Manager within Business Finance at Saudi Telecom Company 
(STC) from 2014-2017. Mr. Mohammed Al-Assaf started his journey 
with Saudi Telecom Company (STC) in 2004 and has held several roles, 
including Director of Finance Department within the Enterprise Business 
Unit, Director of Financial Planning in STC, and Chief Financial Officer at 
VIVA Bahrain.

Mr. Mohammed Al-Assaf was then Chief Executive Officer at JAWA 
Information & Communication Technology (JAWA ICT) between 2010-2013.
In his early career, Mr. Mohammed Al-Assaf worked at Deloitte KSA 
as a Supervisor Auditor for 8 years, during which time he completed 
his Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting at King Saud University, Riyadh, 
KSA. He is qualified as a public accountant by the Saudi Organization 
Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA), and is a member of Financial 
Executive International (FEI); the Association of Accountants and 
Financial Professionals in Business (IMA) and the American Management 
Association (AMA).
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Mr. Andrew Hanna
Chief Commercial Officer

Mr. Andrew Hanna was appointed as Chief Commercial Officer for VIVA 
Bahrain in 2010. Previously, he held roles as Group General Manager for 
Batelco Group Bahrain and Executive General Manager for Enterprise 
& Government. He has experience in senior leadership roles across the 
technology sector, including roles as Chief Commercial & Operating 
Officer at Kalaam Telecom Holding Bahrain, Regional Manager at 
Microsoft MENA, General Manager for Alliances and Channels with 
Telecom New Zealand and National Manager of Strategy, Marketing for 
Ericsson Australia, in addition to various senior product management, 
marketing, sales and strategy roles with Telstra Australia.

Mr. Andrew Hanna is an active industry participant and serves as 
Chairman of the Chief Marketing Officers (CMO) Committee of the 
SAMENA Telecommunications Council.

Mr. Andrew Hanna is a graduate of Stanford School of Business 
and London Business School. He holds an MBA in Marketing and a 
Postgraduate Diploma in International Business from Monash University, 
Australia, in addition to a Bachelor’s degree in Economics & Commerce 
from Victoria University, Australia.

Mr. Issam Issa Al-Asousi
Chief Corporate Affairs Officer

Mr. Issam Al-Asousi was appointed Chief Corporate Affairs Officer in 
October 2011.

Mr. Issam Al-Asousi started his career in the banking sector over 30 
years ago, with the Bank of Kuwait and Middle East (later renamed as 
Al Ahli United Bank) where he was responsible for customer experience 
including high net worth individuals, all in an extensive branch network 
across Kuwait.

Mr. Issam Al-Asousi joined Al Dar Investment Company in 2003, where 
he was instrumental in driving the organization’s investment strategies, 
including the establishment of a Consumer Finance Company called 
WARAD. In 2008, Issam moved on to Al Dowalliah Investment Group as 
Deputy Managing Director, responsible for defining and implementing the 
organization’s domestic and international strategies.

Mr. Issam Al-Asousi graduated from Kuwait University with a degree 
in Commerce. He also completed a 1 year training program at Chase 
Manhattan Bank in Washington, and obtained a Diploma in Banking from 
Kuwait Institute of Banking Studies in 1982.
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Mr. Anas Yousef Al-Ateeqi
Chief Human Resources Officer

Mr. Anas Al-Ateeqi has served as Chief Human Resources Officer since 
2013. He leads the planning, development, implementation and evaluation 
of personnel and labor relations strategies including policies, programs 
and procedures to address the organization’s human capital requirements.

Prior to joining VIVA Kuwait, Mr. Anas Al-Ateeqi was Chief Human 
Resources Officer and Group Head of Human Capital, Support Services & 
Administration at Warba Bank, a Sharia-compliant financial startup, which 
aimed to launch industry best-practice for Human Capital and Support 
Services & Administration. He also served in various management and 
executive positions within the oil, gas and petrochemical industry. Mr. 
Anas Al-Ateeqi has worked in Human Resources for more than 16 years.

Mr. Anas Al-Ateeqi hold a BA in Economics & Business Administration 
from Kuwait University, and an MBA in Entrepreneurship & General 
Management from the American University of the Middle East.

Eng. Zarrar Hasham Khan
Chief Technology Officer

Eng. Zarrar Khan joined VIVA in 2008, and was appointed as CTO in 
January 2011. In his previous role as Network Director, he was responsible 
for the planning, deployment and operations of the VIVA network 
throughout Kuwait.

Prior to coming to VIVA, Eng. Zarrar Khan worked at Orascom Telecom 
in various roles, latterly as Director for Network Performance. In 
this role, he was the key driver for ensuring best in class service and 
optimal customer experience with the network. Eng. Zarrar Khan 
has over 15 years’ experience in both startups and industry-leading 
corporations across strategy and planning, operations and field 
maintenance, performance and service quality management within the 
telecommunications and technology sectors.

He holds a Bachelor of Engineering Degree in Electrical Engineering from 
GIK Institute of Engineering Science & Technology.
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Mr. Naser Abdulaziz Ahmed Al-Rashed
Chief Strategy Officer

Mr. Naser Al-Rashed was appointed as Chief Strategy Officer (CSO) in 
2018. Mr. Naser Al-Rashed is an executive in the field of strategy, with 18 
years’ experience in the telecom industry.

Prior to joining VIVA Kuwait, Mr. Naser Al-Rashed was the General 
Manager of Investment Operations in STC Group. In this capacity, he was 
overseeing the complex strategies and business plans of 12 subsidiaries 
of STC, both domestically and internationally. He was also responsible 
for the delivery of STC’s Investments LRP operational and financial 
performance forecasts. Previously, Mr. Naser Al-Rashed was the Director 
of Strategic Planning of Local and International Investments and the 
Director of International Operation Performance at STC.

Mr. Naser Al-Rashed received his BSc degree in Computer Science from 
King Fahad University of Petroleum & Minerals (KFUPM).

Mr. Mohammad Fadhel Turki Al-Sabea
Chief Internal Audit

Mr. Mohammad Al-Sabea was appointed as Chief Internal Audit in 2018. 
Previously, he was the Director of Internal Audit since joining VIVA in 
2014.

Mr. Mohammad Al-Sabea has over 22 years’ experience in internal audit 
and risk management. At the start of his career, he worked for the Central 
Bank of Kuwait and Kuwait Petroleum Corporation (KPC) in Internal Audit. 
He then moved to the investment sector to hold the position of Vice 
President for Internal Audit at Aayan Leasing & Investment Company, 
followed by Executive Manager of Risk Management at Al-Imtiaz 
Investment Group.

Mr. Mohammad Al-Sabea received his Bachelor’s degree in Accounting 
and Auditing in 1996 and holds several recognized professional 
certifications including Certified Public Accountant USA (CPA), Certified 
Internal Auditor (CIA), Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA) and 
Certified Risk Manager (ISO 31000).
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Nominations and Remunerations:
The Board of Directors formed the Nominations and 
Remunerations Committee pursuant to the provisions 
of Governance, as stipulated in Article 4.1 of the 
Corporate Governance book. The formation of the 
committee includes an independent member. The 
Board of Directors approved the committee’s work 
charter, which includes its duties and responsibilities. 
The committee is concerned with, but not limited to, 
the following:

• Recommendation to accept the nomination and 
re-nomination of the members of the Board and 
Executive Management.

• Developing a clear policy for the remuneration of 
the Board of Directors and Executive Management.

• Determine the right skills required for membership 
of the Board of Directors and reviewing those 
needs on an annual basis.

• Reviewing of the organizational structure of the 
company and make recommendations to the Board 
of Directors regarding any proposed changes to the 
organizational structure.

• Attracting applications of those willing to occupy 
Executive positions as needed, studying and 
reviewing those applications.

• Identifying different segments of remunerations 
that will be granted to employees, such as fixed 
bonuses segment, bonuses linked to performance 
segment, rewards in the form of shares segment, 
and end of service benefits segment.

• Preparing a job description for the Executive and 
Non-Executive members and Independent Members.

• The committee verifies the independence of the 
independent member. 

• Preparing a detailed annual report of all bonuses 
granted to members of the Board of Directors and 
Executive Management, whether payments, benefits 

or advantages, regardless of nature and its name, 
provided that this report is submitted to the Board 
of Directors and then the General Assembly of the 
company for approval.

• Determining the mechanisms for evaluating 
the performance of the Board as a whole and 
evaluating the performance of each member of the 
Board and Executive Management separately. 

• Periodical review of payroll and job grading.
• Ensuring that bonuses are awarded according to the 

approved policy of remunerations.
• Reviewing Human Resource Policies of the company 

and any amendments to them before submission to 
the Board of Directors.

In abidance with the highest standards of 
transparency as stipulated in the leading practices 
and in the rules of Corporate Governance, the 
company abided by preparing a detailed report on all 
the bonuses granted to the members of the Board 
of Directors and the Executive Management. The 
following are the details of the bonuses given to the 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management which shall be announced in the General 
Assembly Meeting: 

Total rewards and compensation of the members 
of the Board of Directors of the meetings of the 
Board and its Committees during the year ended 
31 December 2018 total amount of KD 336,830. The 
salaries, benefits, rewards and incentives to the CEO 
and 7 senior executives in Kuwait Telecommunications 
Company VIVA, including Chief Executive Officer of 
the financial sector during the year ended 
31 December 2018 total amount of KD 2,261,252.

RULE (3) SELECTING QUALIFIED 
PERSONS FOR THE MEMBERSHIP 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND 
THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
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Members of the Board of Directors:
The following table shows the rewards and 
compensation to the members of the Board of 
Directors for the years 2017 and 2018, noting that 

the Board of Directors of Kuwait Telecommunication 
Company VIVA is composed of 7 members, including 
Chairman of the Board:

The Executive Management:
The following table shows the salaries and benefits, rewards and incentives to the Chief Executive Officer and 5 
senior executives in Kuwait Telecommunications Company VIVA, including Chief Financial Officer, for the years 
2017 and 2018:

Amount in Kuwaiti Dinars  2017  2018

Bonus for membership of the Board 152,061 152,061  

Compensations and other privileges 176,401  184,769

Total 328,462 336,830 

Amount in Kuwaiti Dinars 2017 2018

Salaries and Benefits 1,266,474 1,614,266  

Rewards and incentives  566,610 646,986 

Total 1,833,384 2,261,252 An
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RULE (4) ENSURING THE INTEGRITY 
OF FINANCIAL REPORTS

Financial Reports and the external auditor:
Each of the Board of Directors and Executive 
Management provide a written pledge to the safety 
and integrity of financial reports prepared. The 
Board of Directors formed the Audit Committee in 
accordance with the rules of Corporate Governance, 
according to the provisions of Article 5.6 of the 
Corporate Governance book, as detailed above.

The company is issuing a set of financial reports on a 
regular basis including:

• Interim financial statements
• Profits announcements
• Annual reports.

With regard to the external auditor, the Audit 
Committee:
• Reviews the proposed scope, methodology 

and workplan of the external auditor, including 
coordination of external audit efforts with internal 
audit.

• Monitors the performance of the external auditor 
to ensure that the services of the company are 
not provided other than required by the external 
auditing profession.

• Issues recommendations to the Board of Directors 
on the appointment and re-appointment of the 
external auditor or a proposal to change it, the 
proposal to his fees and reviewing its letter 
of appointment, provided one of the Auditors 
registered with the Capital Markets Authority, 
so that it meets all the conditions set out in the 
requirements of the Authority’s decision regarding 
the system of registration auditors.

• Verifies the independence of the external 
auditor periodically before his appointment or 
reappointment, and verifying that the external 
auditor does not perform any additional tasks not 
involved within the external Auditor’s Duties, that 

may affect his independence as required by the 
auditing profession.

• Discuss any obstacles or difficulties encountered 
by the external auditor. These constraints include 
any limitation on the scope of the activities of the 
independent external auditor or his access to the 
information required, and any critical differences 
may arise with the administration.
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Internal Control Systems and 
Risk Management: 
Risk management is responsible for implementing 
the risk strategy and preparing periodic reports 
on the nature of the risks to which the company is 
exposed and submitting them to the Risk Committee 
for approval in order to present them to the Board 
of Directors. Risk management officers have the 
independence through their direct subordination 
to the Risk Committee of the Board of Directors, 
according to the approved organizational structure 
for risk management and compliance with the 
requirements of the Governance rules.

Summary of the internal control systems:
• Approved policies and procedures that cover all key 

activities and processes of the company.
• Comprehensive and detailed organizational 

structures approved by the Board of Directors and 
covers all sectors and departments of the company.

• Approved job descriptions covering all the 
company‘s employees.

• Regulations approved by the Board of Directors, 
which cover all board committees, according to the 
rules of Corporate Governance.

• Policies approved by the Board of Directors that 
cover all the requirements under the rules of 
Corporate Governance.

• A matrix of financial and administrative powers 
approved by the Board of Directors, to determine 
all the powers of various parties and covers all key 
processes.

• Integrated mechanism that cover all major 
operations.

• Control by several independent parties, including 
internal parties (Internal Audit, Quality Control, and 
Compliance) and external parties (External Audit, 
ISO Audit Team, Shari’a Audit).

Internal Audit:
The company has an effective Internal Audit 
directorate that enjoys the full technical and 
administrative autonomy through direct subordination 
to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. The 
Internal Audit directorate performs several tasks, 
including:

• Evaluating the risks faced by the company in order 
to prepare audit plan based on risks and submits 
the plan to the Audit Committee for approval.

• Implementation of audit reviews that cover all 
operations and activities of the company according 
to the audit plan approved by the Audit Committee 
in order to assess the effectiveness and efficiency 
of controls.

• Perform quarterly audits to check whether the 
Executive Management has taken the corrective 
actions agreed upon in the internal audit reports.

• Reporting of all audit findings to the Audit 
Committee and discussing them with the 
committee in the presence of representatives of 
representatives of the Executive Management.

• Carry out any other special tasks assigned by the 
Audit Committee. 

RULE (5) DEVELOPMENT OF SOUND 
RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS AND 
INTERNAL CONTROLS
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RULE (6) PROMOTE CODE OF 
CONDUCT AND ETHICS 

Rules of Code of Conduct and Ethics:
Summary of the standards of professional and ethical 
behavior:
The company, represented by the Board of Directors, 
Executive Management and all employees, believes 
that the professional and ethical behavior is one of the 
most important tributaries of the company’s success in 
achieving its objectives. Based on this faith, the Board 
of Directors adopted a policy concerned to determine 
the standards of professional and ethical behavior in the 
company. The policy includes standards of professional 
and ethical behavior, as well as the responsibilities 
of each of the company, the Board of Directors, the 
Executive Management and employees. The policy also 
stipulates that the responsibility for reporting in case 
of noting any wrong or unsafe action is for everyone 
without exception.

The policy also touched on other aspects of the utmost 
importance, such as the relationship with commercial 
partners, the integrity of financial data, the information 
security and environmental health and safety. All 
members of the Board of Directors and employees 
should abide with this policy in all their job functions, 
regardless of their place and working conditions.

A summary of the policies and mechanisms on reducing 
cases of conflict of interest:
The Board of Directors adopted a special policy on 
conflict of interest. This policy aims to ensure the 
application of appropriate measures to detect cases 
of conflicts of fundamental interests and handle them 
effectively, and make sure that the Board of Directors 
deals with the existing, potential and expected cases of 
conflict of interests, and that all decisions are taken in 

the interests of the company. This policy serves as an 
integral part of the company’s full integrity and fairness 
in dealing with Stakeholders. The policy shows principles 
for dealing and managing conflicts of interests, the 
concept of conflict of interest, and the parties whose 
interests are contrary to the interests of the company, 
as well as the roles of the Board of Directors, the 
Executive Management, the compliance management, 
the internal audit and the General Assembly of the 
company with respect to conflict of interest. The policy 
further reviewed measures to deal with cases of conflict 
of interest and disclosure mechanism.

The report issued by the company’s auditors shows a 
statement on balances and transactions with related 
parties, as they are considered as related parties when 
a party has the ability, directly or indirectly or through 
one or more intermediaries, to control the other party 
or can exercise significant impact on them when making 
financial and operational decisions.

Relevant parties mainly include the key Shareholders, 
members of the Board of Directors and members of 
senior management and companies that can exercise 
significant impact on it. In addition to the above, the 
company also entered in some other transactions in the 
context of normal business with the parent company, 
and those were included within operating expenses. 
The balance owed to the parent company is disclosed 
at the date of the statement of financial position on 
31 December 2018. The following are the significant 
transactions with the parent company as listed in the 
statement of profits or losses and comprehensive 
income statement of the company:

 2017
KD 000

 2018
KD 000

Management Fees 9,716 10,071 

Other Operational Expenses 247  42
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Disclosure and Transparency:
A summary of the application of the mechanisms of 
transparent disclosure that determine the aspects, 
fields and characteristics of disclosure:
Commitment to the principle of transparency at work 
is the key to encouraging Shareholders’ confidence, so 
financial data; profit reports and future guidance are 
clearly disclosed. Also, the company always strives to 
maintain high levels of disclosure in order to comply 
with governance requirements and to establish a 
relationship with Stakeholders based on transparency, 
integrity and trust. Moreover, it aims to provide more 
effective communication tools with all Stakeholders for 
providing comprehensive and informative reports, which 
is in line with the company’s transparency policy.

The Compliance Department maintains a special 
record covering all the company’s disclosures in 
the Boursa Kuwait during the previous 5 years. 
Disclosures are also available on the company’s 
official website in compliance with the requirements 
of the Kuwait Capital Markets Authority.

The company complies with all disclosure 
requirements and issues all financial reports, audit 
reports and other information accurately and 
transparently, including financial statements and 
material disclosures of essential information or 
any other information to be disclosed in accordance 
with the requirements of the Executive Regulations 
of the Capital Markets Authority. The company‘s 
management confirms that all data provided in 
this regard is accurate, correct and not misleading 
information. All of the company‘s annual financial 
statements are in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and their requirements.

A brief on the application of the requirements of the 
register of disclosures made by the Board members 
and Executive Management:

The company has created a special record for the 
disclosures made by the members of the Board of 
Directors and Executive Management, provided that 
this record is available for perusal by all the company’s 
Shareholders. The company also confirms that the 
company’s Shareholders are entitled to see this record 
without any fee or charge, with its commitment to 
update the data of this register periodically to reflect 
the real situation of the related parties.

A brief statement about the requirements of the 
formation of a unit for organizing investors‘ affairs:
The company created an investor relations 
department, which is responsible for the process 
of communicating with existing and potential 
Shareholders in addition to providing the necessary 
data, information and financial reports. The investor 
relations department enjoys adequate independence, 
in a manner suited to provide the required data, 
information and reports accurately and in a timely 
manner by means of recognized methods disclosure, 
including the company’s website.

A statement of how to develop the infrastructure for 
information technology development, to be highly 
reliable in disclosures processes:
The company’s policy is to approve and expand the 
use of information technology to communicate with 
Shareholders, investors and Stakeholders through the 
establishment of a section dedicated to Corporate 
Governance on the company’s website. In the 
Corporate Governance page, all Corporate Governance 
related information and dates are presented to 
help Shareholders, as well as current and potential 
investors to exercise their rights and assess the 
performance of the company. In addition, there is a 
page for investor relations, which is also available on 
the company’s website as well as on the mobile app 
for investor relations. 

RULE (7) DISCLOSURE AND 
TRANSPARENCY ACCURATELY AND 
IN A TIMELY MANNER
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RULE (8) SHAREHOLDERS’ AND 
STAKEHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Protecting Shareholders’ Equity: 
Summary of the application of the requirements 
for identification and protection of public rights of 
Shareholders, to ensure justice and equality among 
all Shareholders:
The company is committed, through the investor 
relations department, to its responsibility toward 
Shareholders to adopt the highest standards in 
Corporate Governance and transparency in the process 
of communicating with Shareholders. The company 
believes that the proper application of Corporate 
Governance enhances value for its Shareholders and 
provide appropriate guidelines for each of the Board 
of Directors, committees, and Executive Management 
to carry out their duties in order to serve the interests 
of the company and its Shareholders. Therefore, the 
company is seeking to achieve the highest levels of 
transparency, accountability and effective management 
through the adoption, implementation and the follow-up 
of the execution of strategies, objectives and policies 
aimed at compliance with its regulatory and ethical 
responsibilities.

It is worth mentioning that we have activated and 
strengthened the channels of communication with 
investors and financial analysts, after enlisting the 
company’s shares in Boursa Kuwait. The company 
is also committed to transparency and to providing 
financial information about the company through 
various communication channels, according to the 
best professional practices in the field of disclosure 
and transparency. In addition, the company was keen 
to communicate with local and foreign investors as 
well as financial analysts, meet them and answer 
their questions. The company also participates 
in conferences held for investors to enhance 
communication with all categories of Shareholders 
and the financial community.

Moreover, the website that has been recently updated 
and the mobile application developed by investor 

relations department, launched during the fourth 
quarter of 2016, provide a range of information on 
the shares of the company, the company’s financial 
statements, and reports on the performance of the 
company. The company also adopted a special policy 
to protect Shareholders’ rights.

The Company also guarantees all Shareholders 
the right to access all relevant disclosures through 
their publication on the website and the annual 
reports available to all Shareholders. In addition, it 
enables them to obtain all information pertaining 
to the members of the Board of Directors and their 
qualifications, and their Company shares, their 
membership in the boards of other companies, as 
well as information on the company’s executives. It is 
also available to all Stakeholders to obtain all relevant 
information.

Summary on the establishment of a special registry 
to be kept with the clearing agency, as part of the 
requirements of ongoing follow-up for data of 
Shareholders:
The company has, since its inception, created a 
special registry to be kept with the clearing agency to 
keep a record of Shareholders’ names and the number 
of shares owned by each one of them. This register is 
updated on a daily basis, and any change that occurs 
in the data shall be endorsed in the record pursuant 
to the information received by the company or the 
clearing agency in this regard.

A brief on how to encourage Shareholders to 
participate and vote at the assembly meetings of the 
company:

• Initially, the company discloses the data at the 
General Assembly meeting after the data has been 
determined by the Board of Directors.

• The company directs a public invitation to 
Shareholders to attend and participate in the General 
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Assembly meeting, (whatever type of meeting it 
might be), including the agenda. The invitation is 
directed by advertising at least two daily newspapers, 
issued in Arabic language, twice. The first ad should 
be published at least two weeks prior to the time of 
the meetings and one week prior to the second ad, 
published in the official newspaper.

• The company also announces the date of its 
General Assembly Meetings through the web page 
of the Boursa Kuwait in addition to the web page for 
investor relations at the company’s official site.

• The company also recently launched a mobile 
application for investor relations so they can 
follow all company news and have access to all 
financial disclosures, invitations, reports, as well as 
information related to the company’s shares.
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RULE (9) UNDERSTANDING THE 
ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS AND 
SHAREHOLDERS 
Realizing the Role of Stakeholders
A brief on the systems and policies that ensure 
the protection and recognition of the rights of 
Stakeholders:
The company respects and protects Stakeholders’ 
rights in all its internal and external dealings and 
transactions. The contribution of Stakeholders 
constitutes a critical resource for the construction 
of the company’s competitiveness and strengthen 
its profitability levels. In order that the interests 
of Stakeholders, whether they are contracts or 
transactions, shall not conflict with the transactions 
of the company, the company has taken the following 
into consideration:

• None of the Stakeholders obtains any advantage 
by dealing in contracts and transactions that fall 
within the normal activities of the company.

• The company develops internal policies and 
regulations that identify a clear mechanism for 
awarding contracts and transactions of different 
kinds.

The company also adopted a number of policies, 
including, but not limited to:

• The Policy of Protecting Stakeholder Rights
• Conflict of Interest Policy
• Whistleblowing Policy
• Policy of Transactions with Related Parties
• Code of Conduct and Ethics Policy

About how to encourage Stakeholders to participate 
in the follow-up to the company’s various activities:
The company is committed to dealing with board 
members and Stakeholders with the same conditions 
applied by the company‘s dealing with the various 
parties of Stakeholders without any discrimination or 
preferential terms, and ensures to check transactions 
and proposed transactions be carried out by the 

company with related parties and make appropriate 
recommendations on the same to the Board of 
Directors.

The company is also committed to providing 
Stakeholders with information and data relevant to 
their activities on a regular basis in accordance with 
the contracts with them without violation to the 
confidentiality of information applicable policy within 
the company. All the contracts with Stakeholders 
include contractual clauses ensuring the preservation 
of the confidentiality of information provided to them 
to perform their assigned tasks.

On the other hand, the company is committed to 
ensuring stakeholder rights in accordance with the 
laws in force in the State of Kuwait, which regulate 
the relationship between the company and its 
Stakeholders. This includes for example, the Kuwaiti 
labor law in the private sector, the Companies Act and 
its implementing regulations, the commercial law, the 
regulations issued by the Capital Markets Authority 
and other relevant instructions.
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RULE (10) PROMOTE AND ENHANCE 
PERFORMANCE

Performance Enhancement:
Summary on the requirements for developing 
mechanisms that will allow for all of the members of 
the Board of Directors and Executive Management to 
obtain training programs and courses continuously:
The company is committed to ongoing training and 
qualification, which provides the members of the 
Board of Directors and Executives with understanding 
and appropriate knowledge on all topics related to 
the company activities, making them familiar with the 
latest developments in the relevant administrative, 
financial and economic fields. It also allows them to 
gain the ability to strategically plan in accordance 
with the needs of the company and therefore to 
achieve the company’s goals.

A brief on the method of evaluating the performance 
of the Board of Directors as a whole, the 
performance of each member of the Board of 
Directors and Executive Management:
The company developed systems and mechanisms 
to periodically evaluate the performance of each 
member of the Board of Directors and Executive 
Management. This is achieved via the development of 
a set of performance indicators linked to the extent 
of achieving the strategic goals of the company, the 
quality of Risk Management and the adequacy of 
the internal control systems. The Board of Directors 
adopted performance indicators to measure 
performance both for the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Management.

A brief on the Board’s efforts on value creation 
for the employees of the company, through the 
achievement of strategic objectives and improving 
performance rates:
The Board of Directors and the Executive 
Management are keen to create corporate values 
within the company by following the highest 
standards of the charter of professional conduct, 

in addition to applying the employees’ guide. This 
shall enable achieving higher levels of applying work 
ethics, achieve the strategic goals of the company, and 
improve performance rates, which in turn contributes 
effectively to creating institutional values among 
employees and motivates them for continued work to 
maintain the financial soundness of the company.
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RULE (11) FOCUSING ON CORPORATE 
SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Corporate Social Responsibility
A brief on the development of a policy to ensure 
balance between company’s goals and community 
objectives:
VIVA has been honored by His Highness the Amir 
of Kuwait Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-
Sabah and His Highness the Crown Prince Sheikh 
Nawaf Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah for the social 
responsibility document of document of the Kuwait 
Telecommunications Company VIVA. We are always 
striving to be one of the leading Kuwaiti companies, 
which means the continued commitment of the 
business community to act ethically and contribute 
to the achievement of economic development and 
work to improve the quality of living conditions of the 
workforce their families, and society as a whole.

VIVA seeks an integrated and modern approach to 
the implementation of social responsibility activities, 
with the participation of members of the VIVA family 
and all sectors of society, creating an atmosphere of 
friendliness, familiarity cooperation helping develop 
the State of Kuwait. We, as a Kuwaiti company, invest 
in the symbiotic relationship within the concept 
of giving between us, our customers and between 
different segments of society, because we believe that 
giving is the essence of success.

However, its position in the local market has not 
been its only focus. Since its establishment 10 years 
ago, it has made every effort to highlight and affirm 
its commitment to society, playing an active role in 
supporting various sectors and categories. It also 
makes long-term investments that are in the interest 
of present and future society and are based on ethical 
values and principles of governance, neutrality and 
transparency. It also places its responsibility towards 
the community with its top priorities and in line with 
its financial performance.

A brief on the applicable programs and mechanisms 
that help to highlight the company’s efforts in the 
field of social work:
For further details on the company’s efforts in 
highlighting its role in activities, programs and 
mechanisms related to social work, please see the 
CSR report published on the company’s website and 
the annual report for 2018.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

Committee Chairman Speech
Peace, mercy and blessings of God be on all of you. 

Dear Shareholders of Kuwait Telecommunications Company VIVA,
Peace be upon you, and the mercy of God and His blessings.

On behalf of the members of the Audit Committee, I am pleased to 
present to you the annual report of the Audit Committee projecting the 
activities of the Committee during 2018.

Having the Audit Committee emanating from the Board of Directors is 
one of the main features that reflect applying the principles of corporate 
governance. The Audit Committee implements its tasks to assist the 
Board of Directors, in carrying out the supervisory and regulatory 
functions to enhance the values and principles of corporate governance, 
which ensures continuity and stability of the company and enhances its 
efficiency.

The Committee continued to oversee VIVA’s financial reporting, financial 
control and compliance processes, with areas of particular focus this 
year including the preparations for the future implementation of IFRS 16, 
as well as the implementation of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, both of which will 
have an impact on the company’s financial statements. Furthermore, the 
Audit Committee ensured the company’s commitment to complying with 
the policies and instructions issued by the regulatory bodies, ensures 
the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems 
and its compliance to the corporate governance principles, and ensures 
availability of the required qualifications and provide the independence 
necessary to enable the external auditor to perform adequately, and 
ensures the same is applied on the internal auditor of the company.

Ameen Ben Fahad Al-Shiddi
Audit Committee Chairman 
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1) Committee Objectives:
The objective of forming the Audit Committee is 
to strengthen the culture of compliance within the 
company by ensuring the accuracy and integrity 

of the company’s financial reports in addition to 
verifying the efficiency of the internal control 
systems applied in the company.

The following characteristics of the Committee 
members ensure compliance with relevant 
governance requirements: 

• All Committee members are non-executives. 
• The Committee includes an independent member. 
• The Committee includes a member with long 

practical experience and academic qualifications in 
the accounting and financial fields. 

• During 2018, the Committee has convened 6 
meetings, which exceed the minimum limit required 
as per the governance rules of 4 meetings..

3) Audit Committee Activities 
The Committee has completed several activities as 
part of performing the roles and responsibilities 
assigned to it in accordance with the Committee 
charter and governance requirements. Those activities 
can be Summarized in the following frameworks: 

3.1 Financial Statements:
• The Committee has reviewed all periodic financial 

statements (quarter and year-end) before being 
presented to the Board of Directors to express an 
opinion and recommendation thereon to the Board 
of Directors with the aim of ensuring fairness and 
transparency of these statements. 

• The Committee has met the external auditor to 
discuss his opinions before reporting the annual 
financial statements to the Board of Directors to 
take a decision thereon. 

• The Committee has met the Senior Management 
during the review of the periodical financial 
statements (quarter and year-end) to inquire 
about the most significant changes and IFRS 
updates made on the financial statements items 
and discuss the applicable accounting policies and 
topics; its effect on the financial statements and 
its compliance with the applicable accounting and 
financial standards and other legal requirements. 

2) Committee Members:

Name  Membership Designation in the 
Board of Directors

 Membership Designation in the 
Audit Committee

1 Mr. Ameen Ben Fahad Al-Shiddi  Board Member 
(Non-Executive)

 Committee Chairman 
(Non-Executive)

 2  Mr. Ahmad Abdullah Ali Al-Turki  Board Member 
(Non-Executive)

 Committee Member 
(Non-Executive)

 3  Mr. Riyadh Bin Saeed Muawad  Board Member 
(Non-Executive)

 Committee Member 
(Non-Executive)

4 Mr. Salah Ahmed Al-Fouzan  Board Member 
(Independent)

 Committee Member 
(Non-Executive)
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•  The Committee has been monitoring the company’s 
plan and the workflow of the policies and systems 
development project with the aim of being ready 
to apply the new financial reporting standards 
(IFRS 9 and IFRS 15) and in addition the projection 
and financial impact on IFRS 16. The Committee 
has discussed the proposed amendments on the 
financial and accounting policies along with the 
significant impacts resulting from applying those 
standards on the accounting processes and on the 
company’s financial statements. 

3.2 Internal Control
• The Committee has reviewed the report of the 

independent external auditor who conducted the 
internal controls review (ICR); a copy of which has 
been sent to the Capital Market Authority (CMA). 
The review aims to provide assurance about the 
efficiency of the procedures and systems applied 
to protect the assets against any losses resulting 
from any unauthorized activity or misuse. Also, the 
purpose of the review is to provide assurance that 
transactions are carried out as per the approved 
authority matrix and properly recorded.

• The Committee discussed the quarterly and 
annual internal Shari’a audit reports and Shari’a 
Supervisory Board reports in the presence of 
Shari‘a Supervisory Board members before 
submitting its recommendations to the Board of 
Directors, in order to ensure the compliance of 
the company operations with Shari’a guidelines 
and regulations. The Committee has confirmed the 
independency of Shari’a audit and the cooperation 
of the management in providing the required 
facilities and information to carry out the Shari’a 
audit independently and effectively.

3.3 Internal Audit 
• The Committee has discussed and approved the 

annual Risk Based Internal Audit plan, which was 
prepared based on the risk assessment process. 

• The Committee has discussed the internal audit 
department submitted reports, which covered 
the audit reviews conducted on the company’s 
departments and activities. The reports have 
included the management action plans to implement 
all audit recommendations that aim to enhance 
the internal control environment and improve the 
efficiency of the company’s operations. 

• The Committee has discussed the quarterly 
follow-up reports submitted by the internal 
audit department covering the previous audit 
observations and action plans done to address the 
audit recommendations. 

• The Committee has appointed an independent entity 
to conduct a quality assessment on the internal 
audit activities. This assessment aims to ensure 
the consistency and compliance of the internal 
audit activities with the internal audit international 
standards in addition to assessing the quality of 
service provided along with the skills, knowledge 
and expertise available in the internal audit team. 

• The Committee has discussed and approved the 
internal audit department’s objectives and its Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs), and confirmed that 
these objectives and indicators have been developed 
based on the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) 
guidelines and suitable to the company’s work 
environment to achieve the strategic objectives of 
the internal audit department.

3.4 External Audit 
• During its periodical meetings with the external 

auditor, the Committee has reviewed the external 
audit scope. The Committee has made sure that 
the external audit team has conducted their work 
with full independence and the management has 
provided them with all required facilities and data 
to execute their work. 

• The Committee has reviewed the proposals 
received for providing external audit services 
and recommended the external auditor to be 
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appointed by General Assembly along with the 
determined fees required, assuring fulfillment 
of all requirements of the regulators related to 
the registration system and independence of the 
auditors. 

• In addition, the Committee has reviewed proposals 
received for providing Shari’a Supervisory Board 
services; and recommended the Board of Directors 
to appoint the Shari’a Supervisory Board and 
determine the fees. 

3.5 Compliance
• The Committee has followed up with the periodical 

report prepared by the management regarding all 
reports sent to the regulators as a compliance 
process, with all regulations and instructions 
related to this regard.
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Fiscal Period Ended on 31 December 2018

I, undersigned, certify that we have reviewed the 
Company’s financial statements for the fiscal period 
ended on 31 December 2018. Based on information 
available for us, we acknowledge that the present 
statements do not contain inaccurate information. 
No material information is omitted or withheld that 
could render these financial statements misleading 
in respect of the coverage.

Therefore, the enclosed financial statements and 
other material information contained therein are 
fairly presented in all significant aspects such as the 
balance sheet, cash flows and operation outcomes of 
the reporting period.

In addition, we declare that we are responsible for 
developing the internal controls procedures of 
preparing the company’s financial statements to 
reflect integrity and creditability in accordance with 
the related international financial standards.

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad Abdulrahman
Chairman

FINANCIAL STATEMENT INTEGRITY 
DECLARATION BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Kuwait 
Telecommunications Company K.S.C.P. 
(the “Company”), which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and 
the statement of income, and the statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2018, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in the 
State of Kuwait, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current 
year. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For the 
key audit matters below, our description of how our 
audit addressed the matters is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report, including 
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to 
respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements. The results 
of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide 
the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial statements.

a) Recognition and measurement of revenue 
The Company has recognized operating revenue 
generated from providing cellular mobile 
telecommunications and data services amounting to 
KD 287,851 thousand for the year ended 31 December 
2018. (2017: KD 287,689 thousand).

There is an inherent risk around the accuracy 
of revenue recognised due to the complexity of 
Information Technology (“IT”) environment in which 
billing, rating and other relevant support systems 
reside; changing tariff plans and multiple element 
contracts with customers, which may affect the 
timing and recognition of revenue. In addition, the 
application of new accounting standard on revenue 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS‘ REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
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recognition, “IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers” (“IFRS 15”), resulted in a significant 
change in the accounting policy for revenue 
recognition. The revenue recognition under IFRS 15 
requires considerable judgment from management 
in determining the transaction price of contracts, 
stand-alone selling prices and their allocation to 
performance obligations under the contracts 
with customers. 

Further, there are risks associated with registration 
and subscription of telecommunication services 
and the difficulty of verifying the existence of such 
operations, in addition to the materiality of the 
amounts and volume of transactions involved. Due 
to the complexities and judgments required in the 
revenue recognition process, we have considered this 
as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures, among others, included 
assessment and testing of design and 
implementation of internal control systems related 
to revenue recognition including the changes 
resulting from application of IFRS 15. These audit 
procedures were particularly related to subscription 
fees for telecom and data packages, network usage 
and billing to customers, with the involvement of 
our IT specialists to assist us in the assessment of 
Company’s IT environment.

Further, we have assessed the appropriateness of 
management’s processes and judgments relating 
to determination of transaction price of contracts, 
stand-alone selling prices and their allocation to 
performance obligations under IFRS 15. We have also 
tested the revenue reconciliation, prepared by the 
management, between the primary billing systems 

and the general ledger. Further, we performed 
substantive analytical procedures that included a 
detailed comparison of revenue with the previous 
year and the budgets, as well as, category wise 
detailed analysis carried out on a monthly basis. We 
have also assessed the adequacy of the Company’s 
disclosures regarding accounting policies for 
revenue recognition.

The accounting policy and the related disclosures for 
revenue recognition are set out in Notes 2.4 and 12 to 
the financial statements, respectively. 

b) Capitalisation and useful lives of property and 
equipment
The Company has property and equipment with 
carrying value of KD 150,544 thousand as at 31 
December 2018 (31 December 2017: KD 145,009 
thousand), which represents both infrastructure, 
as well as, the assets in relation to network and 
related equipment. The capital projects often contain 
a combination of enhancement and maintenance 
activities that are difficult to separate, and 
therefore, determining the eligibility of the costs 
for capitalization depends on the management’s 
judgments and estimates. Further, the timing 
of capitalisation of these assets, as well as, the 
assessment of useful lives depends significantly 
on the judgement of the management. Due to this 
subjectivity and the materiality of the amounts 
involved, we have considered this as a key 
audit matter. 

Our audit procedures, among others, included 
evaluating the Company’s capitalisation policy for 
compliance with relevant accounting standards, as 
well as, testing the key controls in place over the 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS‘ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KUWAIT 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P. (CONTINUED)
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capitalisation of property and equipment. Further, 
on a sample basis, we have verified the capitalisation 
of project expenses against the Company’s 
capitalisation policy and the relevant 
accounting framework.

We have also carried out an assessment of useful 
lives of property and equipment as compared to the 
guidelines in the Company’s policies and procedures 
with respect to the assessment of useful lives of 
property and equipment. We have also assessed the 
adequacy of the Company’s disclosures regarding 
accounting policies for property and equipment.
The accounting policy and related disclosures for 
property and equipment are set out in Note 2.4 and 4 
to the financial statements, respectively. 

Other matter
The financial statements of the Company for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 were audited by 
another independent auditor who expressed an 
unmodified opinion on these financial statements 
dated 1 February 2018.

Other Information included in the Annual 
Report of the Company for the year 2018
Management is responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual Report of the Company for 
the year ended 31 December 2018, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
We obtained the report of the Company’s Board of 
Directors, prior to the date of our auditor’s report, 
and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of 
the Company’s Annual Report after the date of our 
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed on other information 
that we have obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the management 
is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company‘s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made  
by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current year and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
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auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so 
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of 
accounts have been kept by the Company and the 
financial statements, together with the contents 
of the report of the Company’s Board of Directors 
relating to these financial statements, are in 
accordance therewith. We further report that we 
obtained all the information and explanations that 
we required for the purpose of our audit and that the 
financial statements incorporate all information that 
is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, as 
amended, and its executive regulation, as amended, 
and by the Company‘s Memorandum of Incorporation 
and Articles of Association, as amended, that an 
inventory was duly carried out and that, to the 

best of our knowledge and belief, no violations 
of the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, as amended, 
and its executive regulation, as amended, or of 
the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and 
Articles of Association as amended have occurred 
during the year ended 31 December 2018 that might 
have had a material effect on the business of the 
Company or on its financial position.

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI
LICENCE NO. 68 AEY
AL AIBAN, AL OSAIMI & PARTNERS
4 February 2019
Kuwait
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* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the financial statements as at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2017. Please refer Note 2.2.

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these financial statements.

Dr. Mahmoud Ahmad Abdulrahman
Chairman
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KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2018

Notes
2018

KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

1 January 2017
Restated*

KD ’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property and equipment 4 150,544 145,009 137,668

Intangible assets - - 59

150,544 145,009 137,727

Current assets

Inventories 6,863 12,888 4,385

Prepayments and other current assets 3,955 4,653 4,981

Trade and other receivables 5 35,756 31,214 25,615

Contract assets 6 42,527 47,236 35,039

Cash and cash equivalents 7 65,710 32,205 47,192

154,811 128,196 117,212

TOTAL ASSETS 305,355 273,205 254,939

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 8 49,937 49,937 49,940

Statutory reserve 8 18,244 12,944 8,712

Voluntary reserve         8 18,243 12,943 8,711

Other reserves (315) - -

Retained earnings 105,872 81,032 51,691

Total equity 191,981 156,856 119,054

Non-current liabilities

Employees’ end of service benefits 9 5,286 3,630 3,164

Islamic financing facilities - - 11,632

5,286 3,630 14,796

Current liabilities

Islamic financing facilities 10 - 9,036 35,501

Trade and other payables 11 108,088 103,683 85,588

108,088 112,719 121,089

Total liabilities 113,374 116,349 135,885

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 305,355 273,205 254,939
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KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

STATEMENT OF INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes
2018

KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Revenue 12 287,851 287,689

Operating expenses 13 (139,341) (145,458)

Staff costs (21,731) (20,442)

Expected credit losses on trade and other receivables  
 and contract assets

5&6 (18,241) (14,162)

Depreciation and amortization 4 (25,567) (25,931)

General and administrative expenses 14 (34,796) (38,706)

Finance costs (108) (665)

Other income 15 4,934 2,703 

PROFIT BEFORE CONTRIBUTION TO KUWAIT FOUNDATION  
FOR ADVANCEMENT OF SCIENCES (“KFAS”), NATIONAL  
LABOR SUPPORT TAX (“NLST”), ZAKAT AND BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

53,001 45,028

KFAS 16 (458) (381)

NLST 16 (1,407) (1,211)

Zakat 16 (563) (485)

Board of Directors’ remuneration (152) (152)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 50,421 42,799

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (FILS) 17 101 86

* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. Please refer Note 2.2.

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these financial statements.
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KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. Please refer Note 2.2.

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these financial statements.

Note
2018

KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Net profit for the year 50,421 42,799

Other comprehensive loss:

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to the statement of income:

Re-measurement loss on employees’ end of service benefits 9 (315) -

Other comprehensive loss for the year (315) -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 50,106 42,799
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KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Share
capital

KD ’000

Statutory
reserve
KD ’000

Voluntary 
reserve
KD ’000

Other 
reserves
KD ’000

Retained 
earnings
KD ’000

Total
KD ’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 (restated) 49,937 12,944 12,943 -    81,032 156,856

Net profit for the year - - - - 50,421 50,421

Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - (315) - (315)

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (315) 50,421 50,106

Transfers to reserves (Note 8) -    5,300 5,300       (10,600) -    

Cash dividends (Note 8) (14,981) (14,981)

Balance at 31 December 2018 49,937 18,244 18,243 (315) 105,872 191,981

Balance at 1 January 2017, as previously 
reported

49,940 8,712 8,711 - 65,350 132,713

Impact of change in accounting policies 
(Note 2.2)

-    -    - - (13,659) (13,659)

Balance at 1 January 2017 49,940 8,712 8,711 - 51,691 119,054

Adjustments to share capital (3) -    -    -    -    (3)

Net profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year

-    -    -    - 42,799 42,799

Transfers to reserves (Note 8) -    4,232 4,232 - (8,464) -    

Cash dividends (Note 8) -    -    -    - (4,994) (4,994)

Restated balance at 31 December 2017 49,937 12,944 12,943 -    81,032 156,856

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these financial statements.
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KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes
2018

KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of  
 Directors’ remuneration 53,001 45,028

Non-cash adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash flows:

 Depreciation and amortization 4 25,567 25,931

 Impairment of property and equipment - 345

 Finance costs 108 665

 Expected credit loss - trade and other receivables 5 2,643 3,238

 Expected credit loss - contract assets 6 15,598 10,924

 Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 9 1,758 604

 (Reversal of) provision for slow moving inventories (654) 127

 Write-back of liabilities no longer required 15 (4,238) (2,333)

93,783 84,529

Operating profit before working capital change:

Decrease (increase) in inventories 6,679 (8,630)

Decrease (increase) in prepayments and other assets 698 328

Increase in trade and other receivables (7,185) (8,837)

Increase in contract assets (10,889) (23,121)

Increase in trade and other payables 3,720 17,443

Cash flows from operating activities 86,806 61,712

End of service benefits paid 9 (417) (138)

Net cash flows from operating activities 86,389 61,574

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property and equipment 4 (31,102) (33,495)

Acquisition of intangible assets - (63)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (31,102) (33,558)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments of cash dividends 8 (12,704) (4,163)

Repayments of Islamic financing facilities (Net) 10 (9,036) (38,097)

Finance costs paid (42) (743)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (21,782) (43,003)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 33,505 (14,987)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 32,205 47,192

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 7 65,710 32,205

* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. Please refer Note 2.2.

The attached notes 1 to 23 form part of these financial statements.
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KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018

1. CORPORATION INFORMATION
Kuwait Telecommunications Company (“the 
Company”) is a Kuwaiti shareholding company 
incorporated pursuant to Amiri Decree No. 187 
on 22 July 2008 to operate and manage mobile 
telecommunications and data services in Kuwait as 
per Law No. 2 of 2007.

The objectives for which the Company is 
incorporated are the provision of all cellular mobile 
telecommunication and calling system services in 
Kuwait in accordance with the provisions of Islamic 
Shari’a and as per the criteria set by Ministry of 
Communications. In this regard, the Company shall 
carry on the following business activities: 

a. Purchase, supply, install, operate and maintain 
wireless telecommunications devices and 
equipment (mobile telecommunications, calling 
system and other wireless services); 

b. Import and export the necessary devices, 
equipment and tools for the purpose of the 
Company’s objectives; 

c. Purchase or lease telecommunication lines and 
necessary facilities for providing the Company’s 
services in coordination with and with no overlap 
or conflict with the services provided by the State; 

d. Buy the manufacturing concessions that are 
directly related to the Company’s services from 
manufacturers or manufacture the same in Kuwait 
(following the approval of Public Authority for 
Industry in connection with the manufacturing); 

e. Introduce or manage other services of similar 
or supplementary nature to the wireless 
telecommunication services with a view to 
developing or integrating such services; 

f. Conduct technical research related to the 
Company’s business in order to improve and 
develop the Company’s services in cooperation 
with the relevant authorities inside Kuwait  
and abroad;

g. Construct, buy, build and acquire the necessary 
lands and facilities for achieving the Company’s 
objectives (to the extent permitted by law); 

h. Purchase all necessary materials and machines 
for the Company to carry on its objectives and 
conduct maintenance for the same using all 
possible up-to-date techniques; and 

i. Utilize the monetary surpluses available with the 
Company through investing the same in portfolios 
managed by specialized companies and entities 
and authorize the Board of Directors to undertake 
the same.

The Company was registered in the commercial 
register on 9 November 2008 under registration 
number 329673 and commenced commercial 
operations branded as “VIVA” on 3 December 2008.

The Company is a subsidiary of Saudi 
Telecommunications Company (“STC” or “the Parent 
Company”), which is listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange.

The Company is domiciled in the State of Kuwait and 
its registered address is Olympia Building, P.O. Box. 
181, PACI number 889988, Salmiya 22002, State of 
Kuwait and with effect from 14 December 2014, its 
shares have been listed on the Boursa Kuwait.

The financial statements were authorized for issue by 
the Board of Directors of the Company on 4 February 
2019. The shareholders of the Company have the 
power to amend these financial statements at the 
Annual General Assembly meeting after issuance.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

The financial statements provide comparative 
information in respect of the previous period. 

86



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

8

87

KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018

In addition, the Company presents an additional 
statement of financial position at the beginning of 
the preceding period when there is a retrospective 
application of an accounting policy, a retrospective 
restatement, or a reclassification of items in the 
financial statements. An addition statement of 
financial position as at 1 January 2017 is presented in 
these financial statements due to the retrospective 
application of accounting policies as a result of the 
adoption of new accounting standards (Note 2.2).

The financial statements are prepared under the 
historical cost convention.

The financial statements have been presented in 
Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”), which is also the functional 
currency of the Company.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies applied are consistent 
with those used in the previous year except for 
the changes  arising from the  adoption of IFRS 15 
‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ and IFRS 9 
‘Financial Instruments’ effective from 1 January 2018.

Adoption of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers’
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and is effective for 
annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 

2018. IFRS 15 outlines a single comprehensive model 
of accounting for revenue arising from contracts 
with customers and supersedes current revenue 
guidance, which is found currently across several 
Standards and Interpretations within IFRS. It 
established a new five-step model that will apply to 
revenue arising from contracts with customers. 

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which an entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
goods or services to a customer.

The standard requires the Company to exercise 
judgement, taking into consideration all of the 
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each 
step of the model to contracts with their customers. 
The standard also specifies the accounting for the 
incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the 
costs directly related to fulfilling a contract.

The Company has implemented IFRS 15 and opted 
for a full retrospective application. The quantitative 
impact and details of the changes in accounting 
policies are discussed below.

Impact on the statement of financial position 
(increase/ (decrease)) as at 31 December 2017 and 1 
January 2017:

31 December 2017
KD ’000

1 January 2017 
KD ’000

Assets

Intangible assets (49,086) (47,436)

Trade and other receivables (26,785) (14,154)

Contract assets 52,845 39,318

Total assets (23,026) (22,272)

Equity

Retained earnings (23,582) (23,477)

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 556 1,205

Total equity and liabilities (23,026) (22,272)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
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KUWAIT TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY K.S.C.P.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018

88

31 December 2017
KD ’000

Revenue 10,096

Operating expenses (62,156)

Expected credit losses on trade and other receivables and contract assets (9,597)

Depreciation and amortization 61,552

Loss before Board of Directors’ remuneration, KFAS, NLST and Zakat (105)

31 December 2017
KD ’000

Expected credit losses on trade and other receivables and contract assets 2,812

Profit before Board of Directors’ remuneration, contribution to KFAS, NLST and Zakat 2,812

Impact on the statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2017:

There is no material impact on the statement of 
cashflows. The impact on basic earnings per share 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 is decrease of 
0.2 fils.

The Company’s accounting policies for revenue 
recognition under IFRS 15 is explained in note 2.4.

Adoption of IFRS 9 – ‘Financial Instruments’
The Company has adopted IFRS 9 - Financial 
Instruments which was issued in July 2014 with a 
date of initial application of 1 January 2018. The 
requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant 

change from IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. The new standard 
brings fundamental changes to the accounting 
for financial assets and to certain aspects of the 
accounting for financial liabilities. The Company 
has adopted full retrospective approach in respect 
to IFRS 9 and accordingly, the financial information 
relating to prior periods have been restated in order 
to reflect the changes resulting from adoption of 
IFRS 9. 

The quantitative impact and details of the changes in 
accounting policies are discussed below.

*The impact on trade and other receivables is mainly due to reversal of provision on termination receivable on account of adoption of IFRS 15.

Impact on the statement of financial position (increase/ (decrease)) as at 31 December 2017 and 
1 January 2017:

Impact on the statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2017:

31 December 2017
KD ’000

1 January 2017 
KD ’000

Assets

Trade and other receivables* 18,246 14,108

Contract assets (5,609)   (4,279)

Cash and cash equivalents (7) (11)

Total assets 12,630 9,818

Equity

Retained earnings 12,630 9,818

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Adoption of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (continued)
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There is no material impact on the statement of 
cashflows. The impact on basic earnings per share 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 is increase of 
5.6 fils.

Classification of financial assets and financial 
liabilities
IFRS 9 contains three principal classification 
categories for financial assets: measured at 
amortised cost, FVOCI and FVTPL. The classification 
of financial assets under IFRS 9 is generally 
based on the business model in which a financial 
asset is managed and its contractual cash flow 
characteristics. IFRS 9 eliminated the previous 
IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and 
receivables and available for sale. Under IFRS 9, 
derivatives embedded in contracts where the host 
is a financial asset in the scope of the standard 
are never separated. Instead, the hybrid financial 
instrument as a whole is assessed for classification. 
The Company’s accounting policies for classification 
and measurement of financial assets and financial 
liabilities under IFRS 9 is explained in note 2.4.

The adoption of IFRS 9 did not have a significant 
effect on the Company’s accounting policies for 
financial liabilities.

Impairment
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 
39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The 
new impairment model applies to contract assets 
and trade and other receivables. Under IFRS 9, 
expected credit losses are recognised earlier than 
under IAS 39. The Company’s accounting policies 
for impairment of financial assets under IFRS 9 is 
explained in note 2.4.

Hedge accounting
The Company did not have any impact resulting 
from the new guidance relating to hedge accounting 

included in IFRS 9, as the Company has not 
designated any derivative financial instruments as 
hedging instruments and hence, they do not meet the 
qualifying criteria for hedge accounting.

Derivative financial instruments 
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
The Company uses derivative financial instruments, 
such as forward currency contracts to hedge its 
foreign currency risks. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on 
the date on which a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. 
Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the 
fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when 
the fair value is negative.

Derivatives are classified as held for trading 
instruments unless they are designated as effective 
hedging instruments. These are carried at fair value 
through profit or loss in the financial statements. 
The principles of de-recognition of derivative 
financial instruments are similar to other financial 
instruments in line with the related accounting 
policies disclosed in note 2.4.

Other amendments to IFRSs which are effective 
for annual accounting period starting from 1 
January 2018 did not have any material impact 
on the accounting policies, financial position or 
performance of the Company.

2.3 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE
The standards and interpretations that are issued, 
but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. 
The Company intends to adopt these standards, if 
applicable, when they become effective.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Adoption of IFRS 9 – ‘Financial Instruments’ (continued)
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IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces 
IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating 
Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the 
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for 
the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account 
for all leases under a single on-balance sheet 
model similar to the accounting for finance leases 
under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition 
exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets 
(e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). 

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will 
recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the 
lease liability) and an asset representing the right 
to use the underlying asset during the lease term 
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required 
to separately recognise the interest expense on the 
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the 
right-of-use asset.  

Lessees will be also required to re-measure the 
lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events 
(e.g., a change in the lease term, a change in future 
lease payments resulting from a change in an 
index or rate used to determine those payments). 
The lessee will generally recognise the amount 
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an 
adjustment to the right-of-use asset.  

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially 
unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. 
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using 
the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and 
distinguish between two types of leases: operating 
and finance leases.  

IFRS 16, which is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, requires lessees 
and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than 
under IAS 17. 

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Sales of goods and services
The Company is primarily engaged in providing 
cellular mobile telecommunication and data services 
in the State of Kuwait. The services are rendered 
both on their own in separate identified contracts 
with customers and together as a bundled package of 
goods and services.

For revenue from telecommunication services, the 
Company previously recognized revenue when 
services had been rendered. Revenue was recorded 
net of discounts and rebates. For revenue from sale 
of equipment, handsets etc., revenue was previously 
recognized when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of the goods were transferred to 
the buyer and when the revenue could be reliably 
estimated. Prepaid revenue collected in advance was 
deferred and recognized based on actual usage or 
upon expiry of the usage period, whichever came 
first. Upon termination of the customer contract, all 
deferred revenue for unused airtime was recognized 
in the statement of income.

Under IFRS 15, the Company has concluded that 
performance obligations in contract are typically 
identified as for devices (mobile handsets and any 
other equipment) and for services provided to 
customers (data and voice) and revenue from these 
performance obligations are recognized either at 
a point in time or over time when the respective 
performance obligations in a contract are delivered 
to the customer.

2.3 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (continued)
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The Company determines the stand alone selling 
prices to be allocated to the performance obligations 
under the contracts based on observable sale prices. 
The Company performs an assessment of whether a 
contract meets the criteria under IFRS 15; and when 
the criteria is not met, the revenue is recognized 
when the consideration is received and it is non-
refundable based on the contractual terms.

For bundled contracts, the revenue is allocated to the 
sale of devices and services separately if they are 
distinct, that is, if a product or service is separately 
identifiable from other items in the bundled contract 
and if a customer can benefit from it. The Company 
recognizes the amount allocated for the sale of the 
device as revenue when it transfers control of the 
device and correspondingly creation of contract 
asset. The Company recognizes the allocated revenue 
to service as revenue over time when the services 
are rendered.

Contract costs
The Company previously recognized the incremental 
costs incurred in acquiring a contract with a customer 
as an expense in the period in which it was incurred.

Under IFRS 15, incremental cost incurred in 
acquiring a contract with a customer are deferred 
and amortized over the life of the related contract. 
Such deferred costs are classified as an asset in the 
statement of financial position.

Value added services - Principal vs. agent
The Company provides certain value added services to 
its customers which are of direct carrier billing in nature. 
Under the previous accounting policy, based on the 
existence of credit risk and the nature of the consideration 
in the contract, the Company concluded that it had an 
exposure to the significant risks and rewards associated 
with the sale of services to its customers, and accounted 
for the contracts as if it is a principal.

Under IFRS 15, the Company has assessed whether 
it controls a specified good or service before it 
is transferred to the customer. The Company has 
determined that it does not control the services 
before they are transferred to customers, and hence, 
is an agent rather than principal in these contracts.

Customer loyalty program
Credit awards resulting from sale proceeds 
is deferred until the customer redeems or the 
obligation in respect of the credit award is fulfilled.

Deferred revenue is released to statement of income 
when it is no longer considered probable that the 
credit awards will be redeemed.

Contract assets and liabilities
The Company records a contract asset when the 
goods and services have been provided to the 
customer however, the Company’s right related 
to consideration for the performance obligation 
is conditional on satisfying other performance 
obligations within the contract. Contract assets 
primarily relate to the Company’s rights to 
consideration for provision of goods and services in 
the future.

The Company records a contract liability when the 
payments have been recede from the customer 
in advance of providing goods and services. The 
Company accounts for contract assets and liabilities 
on a contract-by-contract basis, with each contract 
presented as either a net contract asset or a net 
contract liability accordingly.

Current versus non-current classification
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the 
statement of financial position based on current/
non-current classification. An asset is current when 
it is:

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Sales of goods and services (continued)
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• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 
consumed in the normal operating cycle

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after 

the reporting period
Or
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from 

being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating 
cycle

• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after 

the reporting period
Or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the 

settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-
current.

Fair value measurements
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most 

advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must 
be accessible to by the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are 
appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, 
maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, 
described as follows, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable;

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

For financial instruments carried at amortised cost, 
the fair value is estimated by discounting future cash 
flows at the current market rate of return for similar 
financial instruments.

Property and equipment

Recognition and measurement
Property and equipment is measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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The cost of self-constructed assets includes 
the following:

• the cost of materials and direct labor; 
• any other costs directly attributable to bringing the 

assets to a working condition for their intended 
use; and

• when the Company has an obligation to remove 
the asset or restore the site,  an estimate of the 
costs of dismantling and removing the items and 
restoring the site on which they are located.

Purchased software, that is integral to the 
functionality of the related equipment, is capitalized 
as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property and equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of property 
and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property 
and equipment (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the 
carrying amount of the item) is recognized in the 
statement of income. 

Capital work in progress is stated at cost less 
impairment losses, if any. Depreciation of these 
assets commences when the assets are ready 
for their intended use in accordance with the 
Company’s policies.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it 
is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the 
Company. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are 
expensed as incurred.

Depreciation
Items of property and equipment are depreciated 

from the date they are ready for use. Depreciation 
is calculated to write off the cost of items of 
property and equipment less their estimated 
residual values using straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives.

Depreciation is recognized in the statement of 
income. The estimated useful lives of significant 
items of property and equipment are as follows:

Network equipment and infrastructure        5 – 20 years
IT related assets             3 – 5 years
Furniture and fixtures            5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

The useful lives are reviewed periodically and 
are reassessed and adjusted, if appropriate, at 
each reporting date to ensure that the period of 
depreciation is consistent with the expected pattern 
of economic benefits from items of property and 
equipment. A change in the estimated useful life of 
property and equipment is applied at the beginning 
of the period of change with no retrospective effect

Key money
Key money paid in respect of operating leases is 
recognized as a lease prepayment. The prepayment 
is expensed through the statement of income over 
the lease term.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based 
on the weighted-average principle and includes 
expenditure incurred in bringing them to their 
existing location and condition. Net realizable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of business, less the estimated cost necessary to 
make the sale.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property and equipment (continued)
Recognition and measurement (continued)
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Financial instruments

Classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets
The Company previously recognized non-derivative 
financial assets into the loans and receivables 
category under IAS 39. This category included 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that were not quoted in an active market. These were 
initially recognized at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and receivables were measured at 
amortized cost using the effective profit method, less 
any impairment losses.

Under IFRS 9, the Company determines the 
classification of financial assets based on the 
business model it uses to manage the financial 
assets and the contractual cashflow characteristics 
of the financial assets. 

Business model assessment
The Company determines its business model at the 
level that best reflects how it manages financial 
assets to achieve its business objective. The 
information considered includes:

• The stated policies and objectives for the financial 
assets and the operation of those policies in 
practice;

• The risks that affect the performance of the 
business model (and the financial assets held 
within that business model) and how those risks 
are managed; 

The business model assessment is based on 
reasonably expected scenarios without taking 
‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios into account. 
If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in 
a way that is different from the Company’s original 

expectations, the Company does not change the 
classification of the remaining financial assets 
held in that business model, but incorporates such 
information when assessing newly originated or 
newly purchased financial assets going forward. 

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI test)
The Company assesses the contractual terms of 
financial assets to identify whether they meet the 
SPPI test. ‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is 
defined as the fair value of the financial asset at 
initial recognition and may change over the life of the 
financial asset. Interest is defined as consideration 
for time value of money and for the credit risk 
associated with the principal and for other basic 
lending risks and costs, as well as, a profit margin. 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows 
are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Company considers whether the financial asset 
contains a contractual term that could change the 
timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that 
it would not meet this condition. 

The Company has performed an assessment of its 
financial assets, being contract assets and trade 
and other receivables and has concluded that these 
are held to collect contractual cash flows and are 
expected to give rise to cash flows representing 
solely payments of principal and interest. The 
Company analyzed the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of those instruments and concluded 
that they meet the criteria for measurement under 
the amortized cost method. Accordingly, there is no 
change in the classification of these instruments. 

The subsequent measurement of contract assets and 
trade receivables will be at undiscounted original 
invoiced amount less any expected credit losses. 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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asset expires, or it transfers the rights to receive 
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in 
which substantially all the risks of ownership of 
the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in 
such transferred financial assets that is created or 
retained by the Company is recognized as a separate 
asset or liability. Any gain or loss upon derecognition 
is recognized in the statement of income.

Financial liabilities
The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely 
the same as it was under IAS 39, except for the 
treatment of gains or losses arising from Company’s 
own credit risk relating to liabilities designated at 
fair value through profit or loss. Such movements 
are presented in other income with no subsequent 
reclassification to the statement of income. 

All financial liabilities are recognized initially on 
the trade date, which is the date that the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when 
its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expire.

The Company classifies non-derivative financial 
liabilities into the other financial liability category. 
Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at 
fair value less any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective profit method.

Financial liabilities comprise of Islamic financing 
facilities and trade and other payables.

Impairment

Non-derivative financial assets
The Company previously recognized impairment 

losses on financial assets based on incurred loss 
model, under IAS 39.

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 
with an ‘expected credit loss’ model. The adoption 
of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s 
accounting for impairment losses for financial assets 
by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a 
forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach.

For contract assets and trade and other receivables, 
the Company has applied the simplified approach 
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected 
credit losses. The Company has established a 
provision matrix that is based on the Company’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the receivables 
and the Company’s economic environment. The 
management has considered the segmentations in 
respect to the trade receivables and contract assets 
based on demographic factors of the 
underlying portfolios.

The management considers a financial asset in 
default when the contractual payments are 90 days 
past due. However, in certain cases, the management 
may also consider a financial asset to be in default 
when internal or external information indicates that 
the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding 
contractual amounts in full.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial 
assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An 
impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
 
Impairment losses are recognized in statement of 
income. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized. A reversal of 
an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the 
statement of income.

Impairment of inventories
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value. When inventories become old or 
obsolete, an estimate is made of their net realizable 
value. For individually significant amounts, this 
estimation is performed on an individual basis. 
Amounts which are not individually significant, but 
which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively 
and a provision applied according to the inventory 
type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based 
on historical selling prices.

Employee benefits 
Pensions and other social benefits for Kuwaiti 
employees are covered by the Public Institution 
for Social Security Scheme, to which employees 
and employers contribute monthly on a fixed-
percentage-of-salaries basis. The Company’s share 
of contributions to this scheme is charged to the 
statement of income in the year to which they relate. 

The employees are entitled to an end of service 
indemnity payable under the Kuwait Labor Law and 
the Company’s by-laws based on the employees’ 
accumulated periods of service and latest 

entitlements of salaries and allowances. The present 
value of end of service indemnity payable, which 
is unfunded, is determined annually by actuarial 
valuations using the projected unit credit method. 
An actuarial valuation involves making various 
assumptions such as determination of the discount 
rate, future salary increases and mortality rates. 
These assumptions are reviewed at each 
reporting date.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the 
net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Company has a 
legal right to offset the amounts and intends either 
to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

Finance cost
Finance costs comprise of expense on Islamic 
financing facilities. The expense is recognized on the 
effective yield method in the statement of income.

Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a 
past event, the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are measured at the management’s best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date and are discounted to 
present value where the effect is material.

Leases
Payments made under operating leases are 
recognized in the statement of income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives 
received are recognized as an integral part of the 
total lease expense over the term of the lease.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Non-financial assets (continued)
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Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are present obligations that arise 
from past events for which an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is not probable or 
for which the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured reliably.

Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into 
KD at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to KD 
at the exchange rate at that date. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured 
at fair value in a foreign currency are retranslated 
to the KD at the exchange rate at the date that the 
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that 
are measured based on historical cost are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation 
are recognized in the statement of income.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of 
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand 
and short-term deposits with a maturity of three 
months or less, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, 
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements 
require management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting 
date. However, uncertainty about the assumptions 
and estimates could result in outcomes that require 
a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
asset or liability affected in future periods.

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below:

Impairment of inventories
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. When inventories become old or 
obsolete, an estimate is made of their net realisable 
value.  This estimation is performed on an individual 
basis for items of inventory.  

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets 
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication or objective evidence 
of impairment or when annual impairment testing 
for an asset is required. If any such indication or 
evidence exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated and an impairment loss is recognised 
in the statement of income whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Company’s management determines the 
estimated useful lives of its property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets for calculating 
depreciation and amortisation respectively. This 
estimate is determined after considering the 
expected usage of the asset or physical wear and 
tear. Management reviews the residual value and 
useful lives annually and future depreciation and 
amortisation charge would be adjusted when the 
management believes the useful lives differ from 
previous estimates.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Provision for expected credit losses of trade 
receivables and contract assets
The Company has established a provision matrix 
that is based on the Company’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the receivables and the Company’s 
economic environment. The management has 
considered the segmentations in respect to the 
trade receivables and contract assets based on 
demographic factors of the underlying portfolios. At 
every reporting date, the historical observed default 
rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking 
estimates are analysed. For instance, if forecast 
economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over 
the next year which can lead to an increased number 
of defaults in a particular sector, the historical 
default rates are adjusted. 

The assessment of the correlation between historical 
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 
and expected credit losses is a significant estimate. 
The amount of expected credit losses is sensitive to 
changes in circumstances and of forecast 
economic conditions.

Revenue recognition
The process of recognizing revenue requires the 
following judgments and estimates:

• Determining the transaction price of contracts 
requires estimating the amount or revenue 
which the Company expects to be entitled to for 
delivering the performance obligations within a 
contract; and 

• Determining the stand-alone selling price of 
performance obligations and the allocation of the 
transaction price between performance obligations.

i. Determining the transaction price
The transaction price is the amount of consideration 
that is enforceable and to which the management 
expects to be entitled in exchange for goods and 

services promised to the customer. The management 
determines the transaction price by considering the 
terms of the contract and business practices that 
are customary. Discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, 
price concessions, incentives, penalties, and other 
similar items are reflected in the transaction price at 
contract inception.

ii. Determining stand-alone selling price and the 
allocation of transaction price
The transaction price is allocated to performance 
obligations based on the relative stand-alone selling 
prices of the distinct goods or services in the 
contract. The best evidence of a stand-alone selling 
price is the observable price of a good or service 
when the entity sells that good or service separately 
in similar circumstances and to similar customers. If 
a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, 
we estimate the stand-alone selling price taking into 
account the reasonably available information relating 
to the market conditions, entity-specific factors and 
class of customer.

In determining the stand-alone selling price, we 
allocate revenue between performance obligations 
based on expected minimum enforceable amounts to 
which the Company is entitled.

iii. Distinct goods and services
The management makes judgment in determining 
whether a promise to deliver goods or services is 
considered distinct. The management accounts for 
individual products and services separately if they 
are distinct (i.e. if a product or service is separately 
identifiable from other items in the bundled package 
and if the customer can benefit from it). The 
consideration is allocated between separate products 
and services in a bundle based on their stand-alone 
selling prices. For items that are not sold separately, 
the management estimates the stand-alone selling 
prices using the adjusted market assessment 
approach.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Network 
equipment and 
infrastructure

KD ’000

IT related 
assets

KD ’000

Furniture and 
fixtures
KD ’000

Capital work in 
progress
KD ’000

Total
KD ’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2018 274,530 26,830 4,423 10,225 316,008

Additions -    -    179 30,923 31,102

Transfers 29,098 2,813 -    (31,911) -    

At 31 December 2018 303,628 29,643 4,602 9,237 347,110

Depreciation:

At 1 January 2018 (146,374) (20,532) (4,093) -   (170,999)

Charge for the year (22,627) (2,803) (137) -   (25,567)

At 31 December 2018 (169,001) (23,335) (4,230) -  (196,566)

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2018 134,627 6,308 372 9,237 150,544

Network 
equipment and 
infrastructure

KD ’000

IT related 
assets

KD ’000

Furniture and 
fixtures
KD ’000

Capital work in 
progress
KD ’000

Total
KD ’000

Cost:

At 1 January 2017 241,166 26,009 4,355 12,569 284,099

Additions -    -    68 33,427 33,495 

Transfers 34,950 821 -    (35,771) -    

Write offs (1,586) -    -    -    (1,586)

At 31 December 2017 274,530 26,830 4,423 10,225 316,008

Depreciation:

At 1 January 2017 (124,007) (18,509) (3,915) -    (146,431)

Charge for the year (23,608) (2,023) (178) -    (25,809)

Write offs 1,241 -    -    -    1,241

At 31 December 2017 (146,374) (20,532) (4,093) -    (170,999)

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2017 128,156 6,298 330 10,225 145,009
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Capital work in progress comprise of cellular and other equipment. Such assets are not subject to depreciation 
until the network is tested and is ready for use.

The depreciation and amortisation included in the statement of income as follows:

6. CONTRACT ASSETS
As at 31 December 2018, the Company has contract assets of KD 42,527 thousand (2017: KD 47,236 thousand) 
which is net of an allowance for expected credit losses of KD 5,106 thousand (2017: KD 5,609 thousand)

The movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of contract assets during the year was as follows:

The movement in the expected credit losses on trade receivables during the year was as follows:

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2018
KD 000’s

2017
KD 000’s

Depreciation 25,567 25,809

Amortisation - 122

25,567 25,931

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Gross trade receivables 43,139 37,486

Allowance for expected credit losses (7,639) (7,049)

35,500 30,437

Other receivables 256 777

35,756 31,214

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

At 1 January 7,049 5,654

Charge for the year  2,643 3,238

Write offs during the year (2,053) (1,843)

At 31 December 7,639 7,049

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

At 1 January 5,609 4,279

Charge for the year 15,598 10,924

Write offs during the year (16,101) (9,594)

At 31 December 5,106 5,609

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

8. EQUITY
Share capital
The Company’s authorized, issued and fully paid up share 
capital is KD 49,937 thousand (2017: KD 49,937 thousand) 
comprising of 499,366,852 (2017: 499,366,852) shares of 
100 fils each and is fully paid in cash.

Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, as 
amended and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and 
the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit 
before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of 
Directors’ remuneration for the year is transferred to 
statutory reserve until the reserve totals 50% of the 
paid up share capital, after which such transfers can be 
discontinued by a resolution of the shareholders in the 
Annual General Assembly meeting upon recommendation 
by the Board of Directors.
 
Distribution of the reserve is limited to the amount 
required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of 
paid up share capital to be made in years when retained 
earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend 
of that amount. During the year, the Company has 
transferred 10% of the profit before contribution to KFAS, 
NLST, Zakat and Board of Directors’ remuneration for the 
year, to statutory reserve.

Voluntary reserve
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of 
Association, a percentage of profit before contribution 
to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of Directors’ 
remuneration for the year, as recommended by the 
Board of Directors and approved by the shareholders, 
must be deducted and transferred to a voluntary 
reserve. Such transfers may be discontinued by a 
resolution of the shareholders in the Annual General 
Assembly meeting upon recommendation by the 
Board of Directors. There are no restrictions on 
the distribution of this reserve. During the year, the 
Company has transferred 10% of the profit before 
contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of 
Directors’ remuneration for the year, to voluntary 
reserve.

Proposed dividend for the year 2018
The Board of Directors have proposed a cash dividend 
of 40 fils per share amounting to KD 19,975 for the 
year ended 31 December 2018 which is subject to 
approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming 
Annual General Assembly meeting.

Approval of dividends for the year 2017
The Annual General Assembly meeting of the 
shareholders held on 28 March 2018 approved 
distribution of cash dividends of 30 fils per share 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (31 December 

Islamic deposits are placed with local Islamic financial institutions and carry an effective profit rate of 2.75% 
(2017: 0.9%) per annum and have an original maturity of less than three months.

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Cash at banks 7,159 8,698

Cash in hand 3 1

Islamic deposits 58,548 23,506

65,710 32,205
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2016: 10 fils per share) amounting to KD 14,981 
thousand (31 December 2016: KD 4,994 thousand). 
The cash dividends were paid on 22 April 2018, to the 
registered shareholders as of the record date of 16 
April 2018.

9. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
The Company provides end of service benefits to 
its employees. The entitlement is based upon the 
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject 
to the completion of a minimum service period, 

calculated under the provisions of the Labour Law 
applicable in the State of Kuwait, and is payable upon 
resignation or termination of the employee. The 
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over 
the period of employment.

The plan typically exposes the Company to actuarial 
risks such as: discount rate, salary risk and 
withdrawal risk.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation was carried 
out at 31 December 2018. The present value of the 
defined benefit obligation, and the related current 
service cost and past service cost, were measured 
using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The principal 

assumptions in determining the end of service 
provisions are discount rate 4.25% and expected rate 
of salary increase in range of 3% to 4%. 

Movements in the present value of the end of service 
benefit obligation in the current year were as follows:

Sensitivity analysis on the Employee’s End of 
Service benefit:
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined 
based on reasonably possible changes of the below 
mentioned assumptions as at the reporting period, 
while holding all other assumptions constant. 

• If discount rate is 25 basis point higher (lower), the 
end of service benefit obligation would decrease by  
KD 148 thousand (increase by KD 154 thousand). 

• If the expected salary growth increases 
(decreases) by 25 basis, the end of service benefit 
obligation would increase by KD 154 thousand 
(decrease by KD 149 thousand).

Discount rate A decrease in the discount rate will increase the plan liability.

Salary risk
The present value of the end of service benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the estimated future 
salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s 
liability.

Withdrawal risk Benefits are paid when an employee leaves employment either through resignation or retirement. The rate of 
withdrawal therefore affects the timing of the payment and consequently the liability at the reporting date. 

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

At 1 January 3,630 3,164

Current service cost 1,758 604

Re- measurement losses 315 -

Benefits paid during the year (417) (138)

At 31 December 5,286 3,630

8. EQUITY (continued)
Approval of dividends for the year 2017 (continued)
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The sensitivity analysis presented above may not 
be representative of the actual change in the end of 
service benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the 
change in assumptions would occur in isolation of 
one another as some of the assumptions may be 
correlated.

10. ISLAMIC FINANCING FACILITIES
During the year 2013, the Company entered into 
an Islamic financing arrangement amounting to 
KD 76,000 thousand (approximately USD 258,000 

thousand) repayable over 3 years starting from 
September 2015 in equal quarterly installments. As 
at 31 December 2018, KD nil (31 December 2017: KD 
9,190 thousand) is outstanding against these facilities. 
The amount disclosed on the face of the statement 
of financial position for the comparative period is net 
of finance costs, processing fees paid in advance and 
foreign currency translation differences.

The Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity 
risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed 
in Note 20.

Included within accruals and provisions are capital 
expenditure accruals amounting to KD 7,229 
thousand (2017: KD 17,597 thousand) representing 
capital expenditure which have been incurred by the 
Company, but not yet invoiced by the suppliers.

12. REVENUE
The Company has disaggregated the revenue 
recognized from contracts with customers into 
categories that depict how the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 
are affected by economic factors. This did not 
result in any impact on the segment reporting 
given the Company only has one reporting segment 
accordingly, no reconciliation of the disaggregated 
revenue to the operating segments has been 
disclosed in this financial information.

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Trade and other payables 11,459 7,073

Accruals and provisions 51,179 64,034

Other payables 23,887 19,419

Due to related parties (note 18) 21,563 13,157

108,088 103,683

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Sources of revenue

Sale of goods 62,333 66,592

Rendering of services 225,518 221,097

287,851 287,689

9. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis on the Employee’s End of Service benefit (continued)

The following table disaggregates revenue by major sources and timing of revenue recognition. 
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13. OPERATING EXPENSES

14. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

15. OTHER INCOME
Other income includes investment income of KD 876 
thousand and foreign currency exchange loss of KD 
180 thousand (2017: gain of KD 370 thousand) and 
write-back of liabilities no longer required amounting 
to KD 4,238 thousand (2017: KD 2,333 thousand).

16. TAXES 
Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of Sciences 
(“KFAS”)
Contribution towards KFAS is computed at 1% of 
taxable profit of the Company after deducting 
from net profit before taxes the Board of Directors’ 
remuneration, and the amount transferred to 
statutory reserve. 

* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the information presented in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2017. Please refer Note 2.2.

* Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the information presented in the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2017. Please refer Note 2.2.

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Timing of revenue recognition

Products transferred at a point in time 62,333 66,592

Products and services transferred over time 225,518 221,097

287,851 287,689

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Access charges 46,253 44,993

Roaming & Interconnect expenses 13,919 11,346

Cost of inventory consumption 66,392 74,125

Repair & maintenance expenses 12,777 14,994

139,341 145,458

2018
KD ’000

2017
Restated*

KD ’000

Rent and utilities 9,552 9,985

Sales and marketing expenses 11,858 15,490

Consultancy fees 1,598 1,258

Other administrative expenses 11,788 11,973

34,796 38,706

12. REVENUE (continued)
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Zakat
Contribution towards Zakat is computed at 1% of the 
net profit in accordance with the requirements of 
Law No. 46 of 2006 and charged to the statement of 
income.

National Labour Support Tax (“NLST”)
Contribution towards NLST is computed at 2.5% of 
the net profit in accordance with the requirements of 
Law No. 19 of 2006 and recognised in the statement 
of income.

17. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by 
dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the 
comparative period presented has been restated to 
reflect the effect of retrospective adoption of IFRS 9 
and IFRS 15 (Note 2.2).

18. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND 
TRANSACTIONS
Parties are considered to be related if one 
party, directly or indirectly through one or more 

intermediaries, has the ability to control the other 
party or exercise significant influence over the other 
party in making financial and operating decisions.
Related parties primarily comprise of major 
shareholders of the Company, its Directors, key 
management personnel and entities over which they 
exercise significant influence.

In addition to the above, the Company also has 
entered in to certain other transactions in the normal 
course of business with Parent Company and these 
are included in operating expenses. The balance 
due to Parent Company as at the reporting date is 
disclosed in note 11. 

Key management personnel comprise of the Board of 
Directors and key members of management having 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the activities of the Company. The key 
management personnel compensation is as follows:

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

Net profit for the year (KD ’000) 50,421 42,799

Weighted average number of shares 499,366,852 499,366,852

Earnings per share (fils) 101 86

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

Management fees 10,071 9,716

Other operating expenses 42 247

Significant transactions with the Parent Company included in the statement of income are as follows: 

16. TAXES (continued)
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Key management compensation

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 2,352 1,927

End of service benefits 246 173

2,598 2,100

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

Commitments

Capital commitments 22,761 17,631

Contingent liabilities

Letters of guarantee 6,074 5,771

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

Less than one year 3,640 4,354

Between one and five years 1,523 6

5,163 4,360 
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Balances with related parties amounting to KD 21,563 
thousand as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 
2017: KD 13,157 thousand) are included in trade and 
other payables in the statement of financial position. 
Balance with related parties are do not carry any 

profit and are repayable on demand.
Board of Directors’ remuneration for the financial 
year 2018 is subject to approval of shareholders in 
the Annual General Assembly.

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent asset
In April 2017, Kuwait’s Cassation Court invalidated 
a portion of the regulatory tariff levied on Kuwaiti 
mobile telecommunication companies since 26 
July 2011 by Kuwait’s Ministry of Communications. 
Accordingly, the Company has a contingent asset in 
the form of a claim for the recovery of the excess 
amount paid from change in regulation date till 
date. The Company has received the final Cassation 
Court’s judgement and is currently estimating 
the recoverable amount, which could possibly be 
material, and is subject to approval of the judicial 
authorities.

Operating lease commitments
The Company enters into non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements in the normal course of business, 
which are principally in respect of its premises and 
property and equipment.  

At the end of the reporting period, the future 
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases are payables as follows:

18. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS (continued)
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2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

Trade and other receivables 35,756 31,214 

Contract assets 42,527 47,236

Cash at banks 7,159 8,698 

Islamic deposits 58,548  23,506 

143,990 110,654
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Binding agreement to acquire a subsidiary
During the year, the Company has entered into a 
binding agreement to acquire 100% equity shares of 
Qualitynet General Trading and Contracting Company 
W.L.L., a company domiciled in Kuwait, from third 
parties. As at the reporting date, the parties are in 
the process of executing this agreement. 

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT
The Company has an exposure to the following risks 
arising from financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk

The Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
the Company’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk and the Company’s 
management of capital are given below.

Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of the Company’s 
risk management framework and for developing and 
monitoring the Company’s risk management policies.

The Company’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyze the risks faced 
by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and systems are 
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and Company’s activities. The Company, 
through its training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined 
and constructive control environment in which all 
employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Company’s Risk Committee oversees how 
management monitors compliance with the Company’s 
risk management policies and procedures and reviews 
the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Company. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the 
Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, 
and arises principally from the Company’s receivables 
from the customers and balances with banks.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the reporting date was:

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)
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Trade and other receivables and contract assets
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced 
mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. The demographics of the Company’s 
customer base, including the default risk of the 
industry and country, in which customers operate, 
has less of an influence on credit risk.

The Company has established a credit policy 
under which each new customer is analyzed for 
creditworthiness before Company’s standard terms 
and conditions are offered. Credit exposure is 
controlled by counterparty limits that are annually 
reviewed and approved by the management. The 
Company does not have an internal credit rating of 
counter parties and considers all counter parties 
with which the Company deals to be having an 

equivalent credit rating. The Company does not 
have any significant credit risk exposure to any 
single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. The Company does 
not require collateral in respect of trade and other 
receivables.
 
The Company establishes a provision matrix to 
measure expected credit losses. The provision rates 
are based on days past due for groupings of various 
customer segments with similar loss patterns 
(i.e. by geographical region and product type). 
The calculation reflects the probability weighted 
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable 
and supportable information that is available at the 
reporting date about past events, current conditions 
and forecast of future economic conditions. 

Trade receivables

31 December 2018

Days past due

Contract 
assets

KD ’000
Current
KD ’000

1-30 days
KD ’000

30-60 days
KD ’000

61-90 days
KD ’000

>91 days
KD ’000

                
Total

KD ’000

Estimated total gross carrying 
amount at default

47,633 27,069 4,772 2,802 2,386 6,110 90,772

Estimated credit loss 12,745

Expected credit loss rate 14%

Trade receivables

31 December 2017

Days past due

Contract 
assets

KD ’000
Current
KD ’000

1-30 days
KD ’000

30-60 days
KD ’000

61-90 days
KD ’000

>91 days
KD ’000

                
Total

KD ’000

Estimated total gross carrying 
amount at default

  52,845 22,648 4,668 1,996 1,468 6,706 90,331

Estimated credit loss 12,657

Expected credit loss rate 14%

The table below provides information about the credit risk exposure on the Company’s trade receivables and 
contract assets using a provision matrix:

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
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Cash and cash equivalents 
The Company limits its exposure to credit risk 
by only placing funds with counterparties with 
appropriate credit ratings. Given these credit ratings, 
management does not expect any counterparty to 
fail to meet its obligations.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will 
encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 

associated with its financial liabilities that are 
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to 
the Company’s reputation.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, 
such as foreign exchange rates, profit rates and 
equity prices will affect the Company’s income or 
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimizing the return.
The Company’s exposure to market risk arises from:

• Currency risk
• Profit rate risk 

*Trade and other payables above exclude deferred revenue and advances from customers.

Contractual undiscounted cash flows

31 December 2018

Carrying 
amount
KD ’000

1 year or
 less

KD ’000

1-2
years

KD ’000

More than
2 years
KD ’000

Total
KD ’000

Trade and other payables* 87,136 87,136 -   -   87,136

Commitments

Acquisition of property and equipment 22,761 22,761 -   -   22,761 

Operating lease commitments 5,163 3,640 1,523 -   5,163

27,924 26,401 1,523 -   27,924

Contractual undiscounted cash flows

31 December 2017

Carrying 
amount
KD ’000

1 year or
 less

KD ’000

1-2
years

KD ’000

More than
2 years
KD ’000

Total
KD ’000

Islamic financing facilities 9,036 9,190 - - 9,190

Trade and other payables* 83,612 83,612 -   -     83,612 

92,648 92,802 - - 92,802

Commitments

Acquisition of property and equipment 17,631 17,631 -   -   17,631 

Operating lease commitments 4,359 4,353 6 -   4,359 

21,990 21,984 6 -   21,990 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities.

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
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Currency risk
Currency risk is a risk that the fair values or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Company is exposed to currency risks on trade 
and other payables, Islamic financing facilities and 

Islamic deposits that are denominated in a currency 
other than the KD, which is the functional currency 
of the Company. The currencies in which these 
transactions are primarily denominated in US Dollars 
(“US$”), banks and other suppliers. The Company’s 
currency risk is managed by monitoring significant 
foreign currency exposures on a regular basis.

Sensitivity analysis
A strengthening (weakening) of the KD, as indicated 
below, against US$ at 31 December would have 
affected the measurement of financial instruments 
denominated in a foreign currency and increased 
(decreased) the equity and profit or loss by the 

amounts shown below. This analysis is based on 
foreign currency exchange rate variances that the 
Company considered to be reasonably possible at the 
reporting date. The analysis assumes that all other 
variables remain constant. 

Profit rate risk
Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market profit rates. 

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the 
Company to profit rate risk, consist principally of 
cash and cash equivalents, term deposits and Islamic 
financing facilities. 

The Company’s Islamic deposits are for a short 
term period and are set at fixed rates and therefore 
management believes there is minimal risk of 
significant losses due to profit rate fluctuations.

The Company’s Islamic financing facilities are 
obtained at a floating rate and a 10% movement in the 
profit rate would not have a material impact on the 
statement of income. The Company does not have 
any outstanding Islamic financing facilities as at the 
reporting date.

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

US Dollars (short) 43,394 38,705

2018
KD ’000

2017
KD ’000

3% movement 1,302 1,161

2018 2017

Average 
rate

Reporting date
Spot rate

Average 
rate

Reporting date
Spot rate

US Dollars (short) 0.30198 0.30330 0.30363 0.30175

Exposure to currency risk 
The Company’s net exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows:

20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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21. FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments comprise financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

Financial assets consist of cash and cash equivalents 
and trade and other receivables and contract assets. 
Financial liabilities consist of trade and other 
payables, amount due to a related party and Islamic 
financing facilities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are 
not significantly different from their carrying value as 
at the reporting date. For financial assets and financial 
liabilities that are liquid or having short-term maturity 
(less than twelve months) it is assumed that the 
carrying amounts approximate to their fair valuation as 
these are re-priced immediately upon maturity.

22. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital 
base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the 
business. The Board of Directors monitors the Company 
performance in relation to its long range business plan 
and its long-term profitability objectives.

The Company’s objectives for managing capital are:

• To safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, so that it can continue to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders; and

• To provide an adequate return to shareholders by 
pricing products and services commensurate with 
the level of risk.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies 
or processes during the years ended 31 December 
2018 and 2017. Capital represents total equity of the 
Company and is measured at KD 191,981 thousand as 
at 31 December 2018 (2017: KD 156,856 thousand).

23. OPERATING SEGMENTS
The Company provides telecommunication services 
in Kuwait from which it earns revenues and 
incurs expenses and whose results are regularly 
reviewed by the Board of Directors of the Company. 
Accordingly, the Company has only one reportable 
segment and information relating to the reporting 
segment is set out in the statements of financial 
position and income.
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